Unraveling the interactions of 14-3-3 with the neuronal proteins L1 and alpha II spectrin

Von der Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover zur Erlangung des Grades

> Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften Dr. rer. nat.

> > genehmigte Dissertation

von

Dipl.-Biochem. Elisa M. Ramser geboren am 15.11.1975 in Klausenburg

Juni 2009

Referentin: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Rita Gerardy-Schahn **Koreferentin**: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Melitta Schachner

Tag der Promotion: 19. Juni 2009

So läuft diese Wissenschaft schließlich auf eine Hypothese hinaus, die Klarheit versinkt in einer Metapher, die Ungewißheit löst sich in einem Kunstwerk auf... Absurd ist der Zusammenstoß des Irrationalen mit dem heftigen Verlangen nach Klarheit, das im tiefsten Inneren des Menschen laut wird.

Albert Camus (1913 – 1960)

Erklärung zur Dissertation

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die Dissertation

Unraveling the interactions of 14-3-3 with the neuronal proteins L1 and alpha II spectrin

selbstständig verfasst habe und alle benutzten Hilfsmittel sowie evtl. zur Hilfeleistung herangezogene Institutionen vollständig angegeben wurden.

Die Dissertation wurde nicht schon als Diplom- oder ähnliche Prüfungsarbeit verwendet.

Hamburg, den 18.02.09

(Elisa M. Ramser)

Summary

14-3-3 proteins are abundant in the brain and involved in various neurological disorders in the central nervous system of mammals, suggesting a critical role for these proteins in neuronal function. In search of 14-3-3-binding partners, with the long term goal of gaining a better understanding of the cellular functions of 14-3-3 proteins in the brain, non-erythroid alpha II spectrin and the cell adhesion molecule L1 were identified as potential 14-3-3-target proteins in this thesis work.

Alpha II spectrin from mouse brain membrane fractions was identified as a 14-3-3 β -binding partner using affinity chromatography and mass spectrometry. Pull-down experiments using adult mouse brain homogenates confirmed that 14-3-3 β associates with alpha II spectrin. An in vivo association of these two proteins was shown by co-immunoprecipitation from mouse brain membrane fractions. Alpha II spectrin possesses a putative mode-2 14-3-3-binding motif encompassing Ser¹³⁰² in its spectrin repetitive unit 12. By mutagenesis analyses, a binding motif in spectrin repetitive unit 12 of alpha II spectrin was identified as the likely binding site for 14-3-3. The identified 14-3-3-binding site is a predicted target for casein kinase II (CK II), suggesting that the interaction is phosphorylation-dependent. Consistent with this prediction, binding *in vitro* of 14-3-3 to an alpha II spectrin fragment encompassing repetitive units 10-14 was more efficient in the presence of CK II. 14-3-3β-binding to alpha II spectrin fragment 10-14 was also enhanced in the presence of calmodulin. It is postulated that calmodulin binding to alpha II spectrin enhances the $14-3-3\beta$ – alpha II spectrin interaction by inducing conformational changes in alpha II spectrin. The enhancing effect of calmodulin was somewhat reduced in the presence of EDTA, suggesting that calmodulin is also able to interact with alpha II spectrin at low Ca^{2+} concentration. The ability of 14-3-3 β and alpha II spectrin to associate with NCAM in the brain of mice suggests that 14-3-3β might play a role in NCAM-mediated molecular dynamics of cell recognition via the spectrin cytoskeleton.

Two 14-3-3 genes are overexpressed in GFAP/L1 transgenic mice, and overexpression of 14-3-3 in hippocampal neurons causes a specific reduction of L1-mediated neurite outgrowth. It was thus hypothesized that 14-3-3 is involved in downstream signaling of L1 and thereby influences L1 function. In this thesis, co-immunoprecipitation studies confirmed an

SUMMARY

association of 14-3-3 with L1 in the brain of mice and suggested that 14-3-3 may directly bind to the intracellular domain of L1 (L1 ICD). ELISA experiments demonstrated that the β and ζ 14-3-3 isoforms directly interact with L1 and pull-down experiments demonstrated that both non-phosphorylated and phosphorylated L1 ICD can bind 14-3-3 ζ . A putative 14-3-3-binding motif, RSLESD, was identified in L1 ICD. The second Ser residue in this motif can be phosphorylated by CK II. Using site-directed mutagenesis, this Ser residue was identified as the principal mediator of the L1 ICD interaction with 14-3-3 ζ . Notably, phosphorylation of the Ser by CK II was profoundly promoted by 14-3-3 ζ . Given evidence that L1 phosphorylation by CK II is required for proper endocytotic trafficking of L1, the distribution of 14-3-3 ζ in L1 immunoprecipitates from endosomal fractions was also analyzed. I could show that 14-3-3 ζ was enriched only in those immunoprecipitates where L1 amounts were reduced, suggesting a possible role of 14-3-3 ζ in the sorting machinery of L1 trafficking from the plasma membrane to endosomes.

Given that alpha II spectrin and L1 have been identified as 14-3-3-binding partners, it is important to further investigate the cellular consequences of these interactions in neurons. Future functional studies based on the findings of this thesis should lead to a better understanding of brain physiology and pathophysiology.

Key words: 14-3-3 proteins, the cell adhesion molecule L1, L1 trafficking, alpha II spectrin

Zusammenfassung

Mehrere Studien haben gezeigt, dass 14-3-3 Proteine in eine Vielzahl an physiologischen und pathologischen Prozessen des Zentralnervensystems involviert sind. Die hohe Abundanz dieser Proteine im Gehirn lässt unter anderem darauf schließen, dass die Mitglieder der 14-3-3-Proteinfamilie eine wichtige Rolle im Zentralnervensystem ausüben. Deswegen wurde mittels der Affinitätschromatographie nach neuen Bindungspartnern im murinen Gehirn gesucht. Als Ergebnis der affinitätschromatographischen und massenspektrometrischen Analyse wurde das nicht-erythrozytäre Alpha II-Spectrin als ein potentieller 14-3-3β-Bindungspartner aus der murinen Membranfraktion identifiziert. Hierbei handelt es sich um ein Protein, das den wesentlichen Bestandteil des neuronalen Membranskeletts ausmacht. Im Rahmen dieser Arbeit wurde die Alpha II-Spectrin – 14-3-3β-Interaktion mittels Pull-down-Assay und Co-Immunpräzipitation bestätigt und die 14-3-3β-Bindungsstelle im Alpha II-Spectrin Molekül näher charakterisiert. Des weiteren konnte gezeigt werden, dass die Proteinkinase Casein kinase II (CK II) die 14-3-3β-Bindung an Alpha II-Spectrin fördert. Weiterhin wurde eine erhöhte Bindung von 14-3-3β an die Alpha II-Spectrin-Untereinheiten 10-14 in Anwesenheit von Calmodulin beobachtet. Calmodulin ist ein bekannter Bindungspartner von Alpha II-Spectrin, der durch die Bindung an die Spectrin-Untereinheit 11 Veränderungen in der Konformation des Spectrins hervorruft. Da eine Komplexbildung von 14-3-3 mit NCAM und Alpha II-Spectrin beobachtet wurde, liegt der Schluss nahe, dass 14-3-3 bei NCAM-vermittelten Strukturveränderungen des Zytoskeletts während des Neuritenwachstums eine Rolle spielt.

In dieser Arbeit wurde auch die mögliche Bindung von 14-3-3 ζ an das Zelladhäsionsmolekül L1 untersucht. Vorausgehende Studien der 14-3-3 – L1-Interaktion aus dem Institut Schachner hatten auf einen funktionalen Zusammenhang zwischen den beiden Proteinen hingedeutet. Mittels Co-Immunpräzipitation wurde eine Assoziation dieser Proteine im Gehirn der Maus gezeigt. Mit Hilfe des ELISA-Bindungstests konnte eine direkte Interaktion zwischen der intrazellulären Domäne von L1 (L1 ICD) und 14-3-3 β bzw. ζ gezeigt werden. Des Weiteren konnte ich mittels Pull-down-Assay zeigen, dass sowohl phosphoryliertes als auch nicht-phosphoryliertes L1 ICD an 14-3-3 ζ bindet. Das Zelladhäsionsmolekül L1 verfügt über einen Serinrest an Position 1181, der von der CK II phosphoryliert wird. Zusammen mit

den benachbarten Aminosäuren bildet er das potentielle Bindungsmotiv RSLESD, welches bekanntermaßen für die L1-Endozytose und somit auch für das L1-vermittelte Neuritenwachstum wichtig ist. Mutationsanalysen ergaben, dass Ser¹¹⁸¹ die L1 ICD – 14-3-3 ζ -Interaktion vermittelt. Weiterhin konnte gezeigt werden, dass in Anwesenheit von 14-3-3 ζ die CK II-vermittelte Phosphorylierung von L1 ICD verstärkt wurde. Die verstärkte L1 ICD-Phosphorylierung in Anwesenheit von 14-3-3 ζ und die Assoziation von 14-3-3 ζ mit L1 in endosomalen Fraktionen sprechen für eine wichtige Funktion von 14-3-3-Proteinen bei der Regulation der Endozytose von L1.

Weitere funktionale Untersuchungen der im Rahmen der vorliegenden Arbeit entdeckten und analysierten Interaktionen von 14-3-3 mit Alpha II-Spectrin bzw. L1 dürften zu einem besseren Verständnis der Physiologie und Pathophysiologie des Gehirns beitragen.

Schlagwörter: 14-3-3-Proteine, das Zelladhäsionsmolekül L1, L1-trafficking, Alpha II-Spectrin

Table of contents

Erklärung zur Dissertation	<i>IV</i>
Summary	V
Zusammenfassung	VII
Abbreviations	5
1. Introduction	8
1.1. 14-3-3 protein family	8
1.1.1. Structure of 14-3-3 proteins	9
1.1.2. 14-3-3-binding motifs	
1.1.3. Role of 14-3-3 proteins in physiological and pathological processes	of the CNS.11
1.2. Spectrins	
1.2.1. Localization and molecular structure of spectrins	14
1.2.2. Function of spectrins	
1.2.3. Spectrin and 14-3-3	
1.3. Neural cell adhesion molecules of the immunoglobulin superfamily	
1.3.1. L1 CAM	
1.3.2. Molecular structure and localization of L1	
1.3.3. Function of L1 in axonal outgrowth and neuronal migration	
1.3.4. L1 and 14-3-3	
1.4. Aim of this study	
2. Materials and methods	24
2.1. Materials	
2.1.1. Chemicals	
2.1.2. Buffers and solutions	
2.1.3. Primary antibodies	
2.1.4. Secondary antibodies	
2.1.5. Bacterial and mammalian cell culture medium	
2.1.6. Bacterial cells	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.1.7. Cell lines	34
2.1.8. Plasmid constructs	34
2.1.9. DNA and protein standards	36
2.2. Methods	37
2.2.1. Molecular biology	37
2.2.1.1. Transformation of chemically-competent bacteria	37
2.2.1.2. Plasmid isolation	37
2.2.1.3. DNA restriction and ligation	37
2.2.1.3a. Restriction digestion of DNA	37
2.2.1.3b. Ligation of DNA fragments	38
2.2.1.4. DNA gel electrophoresis	38
2.2.1.5. Extraction of DNA fragments from agarose gels	38
2.2.1.6. Determination of DNA concentration	39
2.2.1.7. DNA sequencing	39
2.2.1.8. DNA amplification	39
2.2.1.9. Site-directed mutagenesis	40
2.2.2. Protein biochemistry	40
2.2.2.1. Protein quantification (Bicinchoninic Acid assay)	40
2.2.2.2. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	40
2.2.2.3. Coomassie staining of SDS-polyacrylamide gels	41
2.2.2.4. Western blotting	41
2.2.2.5. Protein immunostaining	41
2.2.3. Expression of recombinant proteins in Escherichia coli	42
2.2.3.1. Bacterial lysis by French press	42
2.2.3.2. Protein purification (native conditions)	43
2.2.4. Protein-protein interaction detection methods	43
2.2.4.1. GST-pull down assay	43
2.2.4.2. Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	43
2.2.4.3. Co-immunoprecipitation	44
2.2.4.4. Casein kinase II phosphorylation in vitro	44
2.2.4.5. Calpain cleavage assay	45
2.2.5. Subcellular fractionation of mouse brain homogenates by differential density	
gradient centrifugation	45

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2.5.1. Isolation of total membrane fraction	45
2.2.5.2. Isolation of endosomes	46
2.2.6. Mammalian cell culture	46
2.2.6.1. Maintenance of HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells	
2.2.6.2. Transient transfection of HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells	47
2.2.6.3. Lysis of HEK 293 cells	
2.2.6.4. Cell surface biotinylation	47
3. Results	49
3.1. Alpha II spectrin interacts with the signaling molecule 14-3-3	49
3.1.1. Identification of alpha II spectrin as a potential 14-3-3 β -interacting protein	49
3.1.2. 14-3-3β binds endogenous alpha II spectrin from mouse brain	50
3.1.3. Co-immunoprecipitation of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3β	51
3.1.4. NCAM – spectrin - 14-3-3 complexes in mouse brain	52
3.1.5 S1302A mutation in alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 disrupts 14-3-3 β	
binding	52
3.1.6. In vitro casein kinase II phosphorylation of alpha II spectrin repetitive units	10-14
stimulates 14-3-3 binding	54
3.1.7. Calmodulin enhances 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14	55
3.2. Cell adhesion molecule L1: a novel 14-3-3-binding protein	58
3.2.1. 14-3-3 associates with L1	58
3.2.2. 14-3-3 isoforms β and ζ directly interact with the intracellular domain of L1	59
3.2.3. Location of the 14-3-3 ζ -binding region/site within the L1 intracellular doma	in 60
3.2.4. 14-3-3 ζ interacts with both non-phosphorylated and CK II-phosphorylated L	.1 ICD
	61
3.2.5. Ser ¹¹⁸¹ ->Ala substitution and RSLESD sequence deletion in the L1 ICD disr	upt
14-3-3ζ binding	62
3.2.6. 14-3-3ζ stimulates CK II-catalyzed L1 ICD phosphorylation	64
3.2.7. The adaptor protein μ -AP2 does not affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ	66
4. Discussion	69
4.1. Alpha II spectrin interaction with 14-3-3	69
4.4.1. Phosphorylation-dependent interaction of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3 β	69

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4.1.2. CK II phosphorylation is required for efficient 14-3-3 β binding to alpha	II spectrin
	71
4.1.3. 14-3-3 β as a possible target of NCAM-mediated cell dynamics	71
4.1.4. Calmodulin activity affects 14-3-3 β - alpha II spectrin interactions	72
4.1.5. Influence of 14-3-3 β on alpha II spectrin proteolysis by μ -calpain	73
4.1.6. 14-3-3 – alpha II spectrin binding: implications for synapse formation	
4.2. L1 interaction with 14-3-3	74
4.2.1. 14-3-3 proteins interact directly with L1	75
4.2.2. Enhanced binding of phosphorylated L1 ICD to 14-3-3ζ	75
4.2.3. 14-3-3ζ stimulates CK II-catalyzed L1 ICD phosphorylation	77
4.2.4. 14-3-3 ζ is enriched in endosomal fractions	
4.2.5. The adaptor protein μ -AP-2 does not affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ	
4.2.6. A model of L1 – 14-3-3-interaction	
5. List of references	85
5. List of references6. Poster presentation	85 95
 5. List of references 6. Poster presentation 7. Curriculum vitae 	
 5. List of references 6. Poster presentation 7. Curriculum vitae 8. Danksagung 	
 5. List of references 6. Poster presentation 7. Curriculum vitae 8. Danksagung 9. Appendix 	
 5. List of references	
 5. List of references	
 5. List of references 6. Poster presentation 7. Curriculum vitae 8. Danksagung 9. Appendix A. Oligonucleotides B.1. Generation of pcDNA3/6xmyc-14-3-3β B.2. Generation of pGEX-4T-2-alpha II spectrin 10-14 	
 5. List of references	
 5. List of references	

Abbreviations

β	beta
μ	micro (10 ⁻⁶)
ζ	zeta
°C	degrees Celsius
Amp	ampicillin
APS	ammonium per sulphate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bp	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	deoxyribonuclease
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FCS	fetal calf serum
FNIII	fibronectin III
g	g-force
GST	glutathione S transferase
ICD	intracellular domain
Ig	immunoglobulin
IgG	immunoglobulin subclass G
IPTG	isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactoside
Kan	kanamycin
kb	kilobase
kD	kilodalton
1	liter
LB	Luria Bertani
m	milli (10 ⁻³)
mm	minute
mn mRNA	minute messenger ribonucleic acid

NCAM	neural cell adhesion molecule
OD	optical density
р	pico (10 ⁻¹²)
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNase	ribonuclease
rpm	revolutions per minute
RT	room temperature
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
TBS	tris buffered saline
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetraethylenamine
ТМ	transmembrane
Tris	tris(hydroxmethyl)aminomethane
V	volt
v/v	volume per volume
w/v	weight per volume

Amino acids are abbreviated using the 1- and 3-letter amino acid codes:

- **G** Glycine (Gly)
- **P** Proline (Pro)
- A Alanine (Ala)
- V Valine (Val)
- L Leucine (Leu)
- I Isoleucine (Ile)
- **M** Methionine (Met)
- **C** Cysteine (Cys)
- **F** Phenylalanine (Phe)
- **Y** Tyrosine (Tyr)
- W Tryptophan (Trp)
- **H** Histidine (His)
- **K** Lysine (Lys)
- **R** Arginine (Arg)
- **Q** Glutamine (Gln)
- N Asparagine (Asn)
- E Glutamic Acid (Glu)

- D Aspartic Acid (Asp)
 S Serine (Ser)
 T Threonine (Thr)

1. Introduction

Signal transduction events in eukaryotic cells regulate the dynamics of cell behaviour by reversible assembly of large multiprotein complexes. Signaling cascades integrate and transmit the information that controls cell cycle progression, patterns of gene expression, programmed cell death and cytoskeletal rearrangements. The orchestration of many signal transduction events is tightly regulated by protein-protein interactions and posttranslational modifications of the signaling pathway components. The most prevalent means of posttranslational modification is probably reversible protein phosphorylation (Cohen, 2002). Within the past few years, the 14-3-3 protein family, whose members bind specific phosphorylated sites on diverse target proteins, has emerged as major regulator of cellular processes in all eukaryotes.

1.1. 14-3-3 protein family

14-3-3 proteins were the first molecules to be recognized as distinct pSer/Thr binding proteins (Fu et al., 2000). The term "14-3-3" denotes a family of dimeric α -helical molecules with diverse cellular functions (Fu et al., 2000). The 14-3-3 proteins were discovered and named during a systematic classification of brain proteins that was based on their fraction number after diethylaminoethyl (DEAE)-cellulose chromatography and their position after subsequent starch gel electrophoresis (Moore and Perez, 1967). However, their potential importance was not recognized until they were identified as activators of neurotransmitter synthesis (Ichimura et al., 1987). The most important step towards understanding 14-3-3 protein action was the discovery that these proteins bind to specific phosphorylated motifs in target proteins (Muslin et al., 1996). Since then, several interacting partners have been identified that participate in cellular processes as diverse as cell cycle control, apoptosis and protein trafficking (Dougherty and Morrison, 2004; Aitken, 2006), demonstrating that 14-3-3 proteins are key mediators of intracellular signaling.

In mammals, 14-3-3 proteins exist as a family of several highly similar yet distinct protein isoforms. At present, seven isoforms, β , ε , γ , η , σ , τ , and ζ , each encoded by a distinct gene, have been identified. Two additional isoforms, α and δ , are the phosphorylated forms of β and ζ (Aitken et al., 1995). The τ and σ isoforms have been found in T-cells and epithelial cells,

respectively (Nielsen, 1991; Prasad et al., 1992; Leffers et al., 1993), whereas the other five isoforms were originally found in the mammalian brain (Ichimura et al., 1988). 14-3-3 proteins occur in the cytoplasmic compartment, at the plasma membrane and in intracellular organelles (Fu et al., 2000). In humans, cattle, rats, and mice, 14-3-3 proteins are abundant in most areas of the central nervous system (CNS). In particular, 14-3-3 isoforms are highly expressed in the pyramidal cells of the hippocampus, the neurons of the cerebral cortex, olfactory bulb neurons, and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum (Watanabe et al., 1991; Watanabe et al., 1993, 1993; Watanabe et al., 1994; Toyooka et al., 2002). Remarkably, each isoform shows a specific distribution in the brain. The ζ isoform is present at high levels in the gray matter of rat brain. The β , γ , η , and τ isoforms are localized in similar areas. The γ isoform is specifically expressed in the nervous system and the β , γ , and η isoforms are enriched in the Purkinje cells of the cerebellum. In contrast, the ε isoform is enriched in the pineal gland and present in significant amounts in the retina, whereas the τ isoform is only found in glia-like cells of the white matter (Watanabe et al., 1993). These varations in distribution and amount of the 14-3-3 isoforms may reflect functional differences or participation in distinct signal transduction pathways in different cell types.

1.1.1. Structure of 14-3-3 proteins

14-3-3 proteins are small, acidic polypeptides with a monomeric molecular mass of 28-33 kDa (Aitken, 2006). Crystallographic studies of the ζ isoform have shown that 14-3-3 proteins form helical, cup-shaped dimers, with each monomer containing nine α -helices organized in an antiparallel manner (Fig. 1). Homo- and heterodimers can be formed from the multiple 14-3-3 isoforms that are present in a given eukaryotic cell. However, only certain combinations are generally observed, most likely a result of steric compatibility (Chaudhri et al., 2003). The three N-terminal helices of one monomer interact with those of the opposing monomer through a combination of salt bridges, hydrogen bonds and van der Waals contacts, forming a central pocket suitable for protein-ligand interactions. The phosphopeptide-binding pocket is the most highly conserved region within and across species. The residues equivalent to Lys⁴⁹, Arg⁵⁶, Arg¹²⁷, and Tyr¹²⁸ of human 14-3-3 ζ , which bind to the phosphorylated residues of the bound protein, are completely conserved in all 14-3-3 proteins known (Yaffe et al., 1997; Petosa et al., 1998; Rittinger et al., 1999; Obsil et al., 2001; Wurtele et al., 2003).

regions of the 14-3-3 surface may also influence substrate specificity. For example, the acidic C-terminal region probably prevents non-specific ligand interaction with 14-3-3, by inhabiting the groove in the absence of ligand (Truong et al., 2002; Obsilova et al., 2004).



Figure 1: 14-3-3 proteins bind phosphoserine peptides within the binding groove. *Top panel:* Each monomeric subunit of the dimeric 14-3-3 molecule (blue and red, respectively) is composed of nine α helices (α A- α I), with each monomer capable of binding a phosphopeptide (shown in a stick representation). *Bottom panel:* The phosphoserine phosphate from the peptide is coordinated by a basic pocket formed by the critical residues Lys⁴⁹, Arg⁵⁶, Arg¹²⁷, and Tyr¹²⁸. These 4 residues are located within the α C and α E helices (adapted from (Yaffe and Elia, 2001).

1.1.2. 14-3-3-binding motifs

Amino acid sequence comparisons of 14-3-3-binding partners have revealed two consensus sequence motifs that bind 14-3-3 proteins, **RSXpSXP (mode-1)** and **RXXXpSXP (mode-2)** (where X is any amino acid and pS is phosphoserine) (Muslin et al., 1996; Yaffe et al., 1997). In some 14-3-3-binding partners, phosphothreonine (pT) can replace pS (Muslin et al., 1996; Yaffe et al., 1997). The binding of 14-3-3 to many of its target proteins occurs in a phosphospecific manner. However, some of the identified 14-3-3-binding motifs, for example the sequence KGQSTpSRG of human p53 (Waterman et al., 1998), diverge from the consensus sequences. 14-3-3-binding sites have also been identified that do not require phosphorylation (Yaffe et al., 1997), for example the VTPEER sequence of the amyloid β -protein precursor intracellular domain fragment (Sumioka et al., 2005). More recently, Coblitz *et al.*, 2005). They showed that this motif, when present on the C-terminus of the

Kir2.1 potassium channel, was able to override endoplasmatic reticulum localization signals and facilitate transport of the channel to the plasma membrane. Similar findings with a related, though not identical, C-terminal sequence were also made for members of the TASK family of potassium channels (Rajan et al., 2002).

Target proteins of 14-3-3 containing binding motifs that diverge from the consensus sequence bind the same domain of 14-3-3 proteins as their phosphorylated counterparts (Yaffe et al., 1997). Co-crystal structures of 14-3-3 with peptide fragments containing non-phosphorylated motifs show that the same binding pocket is involved (Petosa et al., 1998), suggesting that non-phosphorylated target proteins can compete with phosphorylated ones for binding to 14-3-3, which increases the level of complexity in 14-3-3-target protein recognition (Wang et al., 1999).

1.1.3. Role of 14-3-3 proteins in physiological and pathological processes of the CNS

Since the first description of 14-3-3 proteins, the biological function of these proteins has been the subject of intense investigation. The first study to assign a specific role to 14-3-3 proteins was that of Ichimura et al. (Ichimura et al., 1987). They showed that 14-3-3 proteins activate tryptophan 5-monooxygenase and tyrosine 3-monooxygenase in the presence of Ca2+/calmodulin protein kinase II. Tryptophan 5-monooxygenase and tyrosine 3-monooxygenase are rate-limiting enzymes in catecholamine biosynthesis, and are known targets of different regulatory factors (Ichimura et al., 1987). Structural and biochemical investigations have revealed a crucial role of 14-3-3 proteins in various physiological processes, such as cell growth, adhesion, differentiation, and apoptosis (Aitken, 1996; Pawson et al., 1997; Fu et al., 2000; Toska et al., 2002). 14-3-3 proteins may influence such processes by changing the activity of target proteins, altering protein-protein interactions or redirecting the intracellular localization of certain proteins.

As mentioned above, 14-3-3 proteins are most abundant in the central CNS of mammals, not only during ontogenetic development but also in the adult brain. This points to a critical role of 14-3-3 in neuronal function. The importance of 14-3-3 isoforms in different physiological and pathological processes of the CNS has been shown in a couple of studies.

For example, significantly decreased levels of 14-3-3 γ have been observed in the cortex of human embryos with Down's syndrome, suggesting an important role of this isoform in neuronal differentiation and synaptic plasticity (Peyrl et al., 2002). The 14-3-3 ϵ isoform also seems to have an important influence on neuronal migration. Migration of post-mitotic neurons from the ventricular zone to the cortical plate during embryogenesis comprises one of the most critical stages in brain development (Crome, 1956). Deficiency of this process often results in major brain malformations, for example human lissencephaly (smooth brain) (Crome, 1956). In patients with severe lissencephaly, extensive deletions of the chromosome segment that contains 14-3-3 ϵ have been found (Kato and Dobyns, 2003) and mice lacking 14-3-3 ϵ show defects of neuronal migration (Toyo-oka et al., 2003), suggesting that the absence of 14-3-3 ϵ may result in lissencephaly. The precise mechanisms by which 14-3-3 ϵ regulates neuronal migration remain to be fully elucidated, but appear to involve the protein complexes Lis1/Nudel/dynein and Cdk5/p35 (Toyo-oka et al., 2003).

14-3-3 proteins are probably also involved in neurodegenerative diseases caused by the expansion of polyglutamine stretches, in particular spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 (SCA1). In a *Drosophila* model of SCA1, 14-3-3 mediates the neurotoxicity of ataxin-1 by binding to and stabilizing ataxin-1, thereby slowing its normal degradation (Chen et al., 2003). The Chen *et al.* study also showed that the association of ataxin-1 with 14-3-3 is regulated by Akt phosphorylation of ataxin-1 and that both 14-3-3 and Akt modulate neurodegeneration.

The 14-3-3 protein family also appears to play a role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (PD) and Alzheimer's disease. Xu *et al.* (2002) could show that dopamine-dependent neurotoxicity is mediated by soluble protein complexes that contain α -synuclein and 14-3-3, which are elevated selectively in the substantia nigra in PD. The observation that 14-3-3 binds to α -synuclein in a protein complex suggests that elevated levels of this complex might increase neuronal vulnerability to apoptosis. 14-3-3 inhibits apoptosis by binding and inactivating pro-apoptotic proteins, such as the mitochondrial Bcl-2 family member BAD (Yuan and Yankner, 2000). It has been hypothesized that increased binding to α -synuclein may sequester 14-3-3 and reduce its anti-apoptotic activity (Xu et al., 2002), which, in turn, might increase neuronal vulnerability to reactive oxygen species generated by endogenous dopamine metabolism.

In Alzheimer's disease, the Tau protein becomes abnormally phosphorylated and aggregates into neurofibrillary tangles. Abnormal phosphorylation may prevent Tau from performing its microtubule-related functions, causing cytoskeletal dysfunction and perhaps neurodegeneration (Goedert, 1993). Layfield *et al.* (1996) investigated the localization of 14-3-3 in postmortem Alzheimer's disease brains and detected 14-3-3 in neurofibrillary tangles.

Further investigations showed that Tau interacts with 14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ζ . 14-3-3 ζ also stimulates Tau phosphorylation at certain Ser residues by protein kinase A. This phosphorylation is sufficient to block Tau-microtubule interaction, causing microtubule instability. These observations suggest that 14-3-3 ζ may be a Tau-specific co-factor involved in the abnormal phosphorylation of Tau during Alzheimer's disease development (Hashiguchi et al., 2000).

Studies with *Drosophila* mutants lacking *Leonardo*, the fly ortholog of 14-3-3 ζ , revealed an impairment of learning and synaptic plasticity. *Leonardo* is a typical member of the 14-3-3 protein family, which shows 88% amino acid identity to its closest mammalian homolog, 14-3-3 ζ (Skoulakis and Davis, 1996). Several data support this study and suggest that 14-3-3 proteins are involved in synaptic function and plasticity (Broadie et al., 1997; Philip et al., 2001; Simsek-Duran et al., 2004).

Taken together, these data from *in vitro* studies, animal models, and *post mortem* analyses of the brains of patients with different neurological disorders point to an important role of the 14-3-3 proteins in CNS development and function.

1.2. Spectrins

Spectrins are a class of multifunctional proteins associated with the cortical cytoplasm of most cells and were first identified at the intracellular surface of the erythrocyte plasma membrane (Goodman et al., 1987). Spectrins are ubiquitous among simple metazoans and vertebrate tissues, and play an important role in cellular functions and maintenance of cell structure (De Matteis and Morrow, 2000; Gascard and Mohandas, 2000; Kordeli, 2000; Bennett and Baines, 2001; Giorgi et al., 2001). Mammalian spectrins are grouped in two classes: erythroid (α SpI or β SpI) and non-erythroid (α SpII or β SpII) spectrins. One of the first identified members in the class of non-erythroid spectrins was fodrin (Levine and

Willard, 1981). Fodrin was first identified in neurons and, as a result, was previously termed brain spectrin. At present, fodrin is more commonly known as alpha II spectrin.

1.2.1. Localization and molecular structure of spectrins

Spectrins are scaffolding proteins that act in association with a variety of adaptor proteins to organize membrane microdomains on the plasma membrane as well as on intracellular organelles. They are present at the plasma membrane, in the Golgi apparatus, in cytoplasmic vesicles, and also in the nucleus (De Matteis and Morrow, 1998; Stankewich et al., 1998; McMahon et al., 1999). Erythroid spectrins structure the erythrocyte its stability and viscoelastic properties. However, the role of spectrins in non-erythroid cells is less clear. They are not required for global membrane support, since they are often highly polarized and lacking in large areas of the plasma membrane. This polarization of spectrin isoforms within neurons has been best characterized in the cerebellum of the mouse (Zagon et al., 1984; Riederer et al., 1986; Zagon et al., 1986; Clark et al., 1994). In murine neurons, two different isoforms of spectrin are distributed to distinct cellular compartments. The existence of an erythroid β and non-erythroid α and β subunit has been shown by immunostaining studies, whereas the presence of the erythroid α subunit in neurons has not been widely accepted (Malchiodi-Albedi et al., 1993; Winkelmann and Forget, 1993).

Non-erythroid spectrins are localized to axons and to presynaptic terminals. For example, immunoelectron microscopy studies by Zagon *et al.* (1986) demonstrated the association of non-erythroid spectrins with the cytoplasmic surface of the plasma membrane and of synaptic vesicles within the presynaptic terminal. Non-erythroid spectrins have also been found in postsynaptic compartments. Alpha II spectrin (previously termed α -fodrin or brain α -spectrin) is expressed in the neuronal dendritic compartment showing strong enrichment toward dendritic spines and postsynaptic densities (Bockers et al., 2001). In fact, alpha II spectrin has been shown to be a major constituent of postsynaptic density (Carlin et al., 1983).

Like erythroid spectrins, most non-erythroid spectrins, in their simplest form, are heterodimers of non-identical α and β subunits, with molecular weights of 280 and 246 kDa, respectively (Bignone and Baines, 2003). The human spectrin family includes two α subunits and five β subunits (De Matteis and Morrow, 2000). Spectrin dimers self-associate head-to-

head into tetramers at the so-called tetramerization site. The αI and βI chains that form spectrin tetramers found in red blood cells interact with lower affinity than the αII and βII chains in non-erythroid cells (Bignone and Baines, 2003).

The basic structural unit of spectrin is a triple helical repeat (Speicher and Marchesi, 1984). The α spectrin chains are usually made up of 21 repeats and β spectrin chains of 17 repeats, except βV , which has 30 repeats (Fig. 2).



Figure 2: Domain structure of spectrins. Schematics of the two α spectrins and five β spectrins are shown here. Spectrins comprise repetitive units called spectrin repeats (yellow squares). Other domains, such as the Srchomology domain (SH3, blue), EF-hand domain (a protein fold associated with calcium-binding activity) (red), and the calmodulin-binding domain (green) interactions with binding promote partners that are important for spectrin function. The pleckstrin-homology domain (black) promotes association with the plasma membrane via PI lipids, and the actin-binding domain (grey) tethers the spectrin-based membrane skeleton to short actin filaments, which are stabilized by accessory proteins. All spectrins are subject to alternative splicing, which further increases their functional diversity (Bennett and Baines, 2001) (Figure adapted and modified from (Bennett and Healy, 2008)).

The structural units are characteristic of spectrin family members (Bennett and Baines, 2001). They are ~106 amino acids long and folded in a coiled-coil structure made up of three helices (Speicher and Marchesi, 1984; Davison et al., 1989; Parry et al., 1992). In addition to these repeat units, spectrin isoforms can also contain several functional domains, such as an SH3

domain, EF hands, PH domains, and binding domains for ankyrin, actin, protein 4.1, and calmodulin (Bennett and Baines, 2001).

Non-erythroid alpha II spectrin exhibits a low degree of homology (58% amino acid identity) with erythroid alpha I spectrin. The main difference is a non-homologous sequence inserted into the 11^{th} repeat unit of the vertebrate alpha II spectrin subunit. This insertion is absent in erythroid alpha I spectrin. The non-homologous sequence is located near the SH3 domain and calmodulin binding site, and contains several cleavage sites for different proteases, including μ -calpain and caspases (Harris et al., 1988; Rotter et al., 2004).

1.2.2. Function of spectrins

The involvement of spectrins in many diverse cellular processes can be explained by their distinct patterns of distribution and by their modular structure that combines numerous protein-interacting domains. As the major component of the cytoskeletal network associated with the plasma membrane of vertebrate cells, spectrin, together with actin and ankyrin, controls the distribution of many integral and peripheral membrane proteins. Mutations in spectrin or its associated adapter protein ankyrin often destabilize the membrane, and their absence is embryonically lethal (Peters et al., 1992; Deng et al., 1995).

Spectrins are tethered to cellular membranes by protein–protein interactions. The best studied spectrin-membrane adaptors are the ankyrins. Ankyrins are a family of peripheral membrane proteins controlling the interactions of spectrins with various transmembrane proteins (Bennett, 1992). They are known to bind to the beta spectrin subunit (Goodman et al., 1988). Ankyrins link spectrins to a number of physiologically important transmembrane proteins, including Na,K-ATPase, and the voltage-gated Na⁺ channel (Bennett, 1992).

Ankyrins can also bind cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) of the CD44 family (Kalomiris and Bourguignon, 1988) and the L1 CAM family (e.g., L1, neurofascin, NrCAM, NgCAM in the vertebrate nervous system) (Davis and Bennett, 1994; Dubreuil et al., 1996). Evidence for L1 CAM-ankyrin interactions includes findings that L1 CAM-members co-localize with ankyrin at nodes of Ranvier and axon initial segments (Davis et al., 1996) and are missorted in ankyrin-G-deficient-mice (Zhou et al., 1998).

Ankyrin-independent association of spectrins with membrane proteins is also possible. Spectrins can directly bind to NMDAR and acetylcholine receptors, and anchoring them within the postsynaptic density (Bloch and Morrow, 1989; Daniels, 1990; Bloch et al., 1997; Wechsler and Teichberg, 1998; Hirai and Matsuda, 1999). Spectrin-NMDAR interactions might form the basis for the actin-mediated regulation of NMDAR channel activity and represent one of the events leading to the plasticity-induced changes in spine morphology (Wechsler and Teichberg, 1998). Thus, receptor anchoring via spectrin at postsynaptic sites may regulate synaptogenesis and/or synaptic plasticity. Another example for an ankyrin-independent binding partner of spectrins is NCAM 180, which previously has been demonstrated to bind brain spectrin (Pollerberg et al., 1987). This interaction is thought to limit the mobility of NCAM 180 within the plasma membrane (Pollerberg et al., 1986) and might also play a role in the control of NCAM-mediated signaling (Leshchyns'ka et al., 2003).

Spectrin function is regulated by proteolysis, which is catalyzed by Ca²⁺-dependent proteases, in particular μ -calpain, as well as calmodulin, and phosphorylation. Calcium-dependent proteolytic modification of the alpha II spectrin subunit, particularly by μ -calpain, is linked to several physiological processes, such as the onset of long-term potentiation in hippocampal neurons, dendritic and postsynaptic density remodeling, and receptor-mediated endocytosis (Lynch and Baudry, 1984; Sheppard et al., 1993; Bahr et al., 1995; Bednarski et al., 1995; Dosemeci and Reese, 1995; Vanderklish et al., 1995; Faddis et al., 1997; Kamal et al., 1998). Cleavage of spectrin by μ -calpain is not only part of important physiological processes but it also follows hypoxic or ischemic injury (Seubert et al., 1989) and has been observed during apoptosis in neurons (Nath et al., 1996). The molecular basis for these divergent consequences of μ -calpain action, and their relationship to spectrin proteolysis, is not well understood.

Calmodulin plays, among other things, an important role in synapse formation by binding to the alpha II spectrin subunit. Specifically, calmodulin binds to the above-mentioned non-homologous sequence inserted in the 11th repeat unit of the vertebrate alpha II spectrin subunit (Harris et al., 1988; Simonovic et al., 2006). Calmodulin binding has been shown to enhance the susceptibility of a peptide bond (Tyr¹¹⁷⁶–Gly¹¹⁷⁷) near the calmodulin-binding site on alpha II spectrin to cleavage by μ -calpain and also renders the adjacent beta II spectrin subunit susceptible to μ -calpain cleavage (Glantz et al., 2007). The sensitivity of the cleavage site on the beta II spectrin subunit (Gln¹⁴⁴¹–Ser¹⁴⁴²) is also regulated at the substrate level by

the phosphorylation of Tyr¹¹⁷⁶, which is mediated by src-family kinases and low-molecularweight phosphotyrosine phosphatase (Nicolas et al., 2002; Nedrelow et al., 2003).

Thus, two Ca^{2+} -dependent processes, calmodulin binding and calpain proteolysis, unless suppressed by Tyr phosphorylation of alpha II spectrin, act synergistically to regulate the proteolysis of spectrin and the organization and integrity of the cortical membrane skeleton. These events can occur in response to an elevation in Ca^{2+} -ion levels (Harris and Morrow, 1990) and synaptic activity (Vanderklish et al., 1995). Morphological alterations of the cytoskeleton during synaptic plasticity allows a rapid remodeling of synapses after stimulation.

1.2.3. Spectrin and 14-3-3

Several studies have indicated the involvement of 14-3-3 proteins in cellular processes and various neurological disorders in the brain. Based on these studies, we previously sought to identify further 14-3-3-binding target (Ramser, 2005). Using affinity chromatography and ESI tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) analysis, non-erythroid alpha II spectrin was identified as a potential 14-3-3-binding protein (Ramser, 2005). However, experiments to confirm the mass spectrometry data and characterize the possible interaction between 14-3-3 and alpha II spectrin were not performed previously.

1.3. Neural cell adhesion molecules of the immunoglobulin superfamily

Neural CAMs are key mediators of neuronal interactions (Hortsch, 1996; Kenwrick et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2007; Maness and Schachner, 2007). Their roles during the developmental stages of the nervous system include cell migration, axon guidance, synaptic targeting, and synapse formation. In the mature nervous system, their principal role is preserving synaptic connections, cell-cell contacts, and neuron-glial interactions. One group of the well-studied CAMs in the nervous system is the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily, which includes L1 and NCAM.

1.3.1. L1 CAM

L1 is a member of a subfamily of vertebrate CAMs that are related by structure and sequence (e.g., L1, NgCAM, NrCAM, neurofascin, CHL1, and neuroglian). These molecules mediate cell-cell adhesion through Ca²⁺-independent homophilic and heterophilic binding at the cell surface (Rathjen and Schachner, 1984; Grumet, 1991). L1 was first identified as a transmembrane glycoprotein in the CNS of mice (Lindner et al., 1983; Rathjen and Schachner, 1984).

1.3.2. Molecular structure and localization of L1

The L1 molecule is comprised of an extracellular region of six Ig-like domains, five fibronectin type III repeats, a single membrane-spanning region, and a highly conserved cytoplasmic domain (Fig. 3). L1 or L1-like molecules with this structural architecture have been identified in a variety of species. In all species investigated so far, these molecules have proved to be important components of the ligand-receptor network of guidance forces that influence axonal growth (Rathjen and Schachner, 1984; Grumet, 1991; Brummendorf and Rathjen, 1995; Hortsch, 1996).



Figure 3: Modular structure of L1 CAM. L1 belongs to the Ig superfamily. It is a transmembrane glycoprotein that contains six Ig-like, five fibronectin type III-like extracellular domains, a single membrane-spanning region and a cytoplasmic tail.

In mammals, L1 expression has been observed throughout the nervous system in developing neurons and on the axons of many differentiated nerve cells. Axonal expression of L1 seems to be concentrated at the surface that makes contact with neighboring axons, suggesting that L1 may be involved in the development of axon bundles. However, L1 is also found on growth cones, which are responsible for sensing extracellular guidance cues. Although primarily neuronal, L1 is also found on the Schwann cells of the peripheral nervous system

when they make contact with axons, suggesting that L1 is implicated in the onset of myelination (Seilheimer and Schachner, 1988; Martini et al., 1994). L1 is also expressed by a subclass of leukocytes and on intestinal cells, indicating that L1 also has functions outside the nervous system (Thor et al., 1987; Kadmon and Altevogt, 1997). Because L1 is a cell adhesion molecule, its role in tumor metastasis has also been investigated (Johnson, 1991).

1.3.3. Function of L1 in axonal outgrowth and neuronal migration

L1 mediates cell migration, axon outgrowth and guidance, branching, and synaptogenesis in the nervous system (Hortsch, 1996; Chen et al., 2007). The ICD of neuronal L1 contains four additional amino acids (RSLE) compared to the L1 ICD expressed in non-neuronal cells (Miura et al., 1991). These extra residues are encoded by the alternatively spliced exon 27 and are important in several L1 functions. Several L1-associated cytosolic molecules participating in axon outgrowth and guidance have also been identified (Davis and Bennett, 1993; Kamiguchi et al., 1998; Dickson et al., 2002). However, the structural basis for L1-mediated intracellular signaling and cell remodelling has still not been unravelled.

The function of L1 in regulation of axonal outgrowth and neuronal migration is dependent on CAM-mediated signaling to the inside of the neuron, rather than passive adhesion, and also requires coordination with the actin cytoskeleton. L1 does not bind directly to the actin cytoskeleton; rather, its interaction is regulated by membrane-cytoskeletal linker proteins, such as ankyrin and the ezrin, radixin, and moesin (ERM) protein family. Ezrin interacts directly with the L1 ICD and this interaction plays an important role in neurite branching (Turunen et al., 1994; Chishti et al., 1998; Dickson et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2005). The interaction between L1 and ezrin involves two major sites in L1, one of which is the ¹¹⁷⁶YRSLE region within the neuronal isoform of L1 ICD (Dickson et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2005). Dynamic regulation of the cell surface expression of adhesion molecules is also an important mechanism for controlling neuronal growth cone motility and guidance. L1-controlled endocytosis plays a crucial role in the motility of the nerve growth cones (Kamiguchi and Yoshihara, 2001).



Figure 4: A model of L1's internalization and trafficking in the axonal growth cone. L1 is internalized from the plasma membrane (*left*) at the C-domain via clathrin-mediated pathways. Endocytosed L1 is transported into the P-domain via sorting and recycling endosomes. Recycled L1 is reinserted into the plasma membrane at the leading edge (*right*). The ability of L1 to interact with clathrin adaptors is regulated by phosphorylation. Recycled L1 on the cell surface moves toward the C-domain by coupling to the retrogradely moving actin filaments via ankyrin or other linker proteins (Figure adapted from (Kamiguchi and Lemmon, 2000)).

The amino acid sequence ¹¹⁷⁶YRSLE within the L1 ICD enables recruitment of L1 to the AP2-clathrin adapter for endocytosis (Kamiguchi et al., 1998). L1 internalization by clathrinmediated endocytosis within the central domain of the growth cone leads to recycling of L1 to the front, promoting motility through new adhesive contacts at the leading edge and the detachment of old adhesions (Fig. 4) (Kamiguchi and Lemmon, 2000). Endocytosis of L1 is regulated by pp60c-src, which can phosphorylate the cytoplasmic ¹¹⁷⁶YRSLE motif, thus inhibiting L1 binding to AP2-clathrin (Schaefer et al., 2002). The L1 ICD contains a Ser residue (Ser¹¹⁸¹) adjacent to the AP-2 binding site that can be phosphorylated by casein kinase II (CK II) (Wong et al., 1996). Although the possible role of Ser¹¹⁸¹ in L1 function has not been investigated so far, there is evidence that L1 phosphorylation at this site by CK II is required for proper endocytic trafficking of L1 and for L1-stimulated axon outgrowth (Nakata and Kamiguchi, 2007). The findings by Nakata and Kamiguchi also suggested that sorting pathways following L1 internalization might be regulated by Ser¹¹⁸¹ phosphorylation.

1.3.4. L1 and 14-3-3

The GFAP/L1 mouse is a transgenic mouse expressing L1 ectopically in glial fibrilliary acidic protein (GFAP)-expressing astrocytes. This transgenic mouse model was generated to study the effects of L1 on learning and synaptic plasticity (Wolfer et al., 1998). Results from several experiments performed with this model led to the hypothesis that L1-expression in astrocytes alters gene expression, thereby leading to increased flexibility and selectivity in spatial learning. Serial analysis of gene expression (*SAGE*) in GFAP/L1 mice hippocampi also revealed an overexpression of 14-3-3 β and ζ genes (R. Löbbert, U. Wirkner, and O. Kreft, Lion BIOSCIENCE AG, Heidelberg; unpublished observations). The observation that 14-3-3 genes were overexpressed in this transgenic mouse model led to the hypothesis that 14-3-3 could be involved in downstream signaling of L1 and thereby influence L1 function. Data from the Schachner laboratory also suggested a possible functional connection between L1 and 14-3-3: overexpression of 14-3-3 led to a specific reduction of neurite length in L1-mediated neurite outgrowth (T. Tilling, unpublished results). Previously, attempts were made to demonstrate an interaction between L1 and 14-3-3 but results were inconclusive (Ramser, 2005).

1.4. Aim of this study

14-3-3 proteins are most abundant in the CNS of mammals, not only during ontogenetic development but also in the adult brain, pointing to a critical role for 14-3-3 in neuronal function. Results from previous experimentation had suggested that non-erythroid alpha II spectrin and L1 may interact with 14-3-3. The aim of this study was to demonstrate and specifically characterize the interactions of these two neuronal proteins with 14-3-3, by employing molecular biological and biochemical approaches.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Chemicals

All chemicals were obtained in analytical grade quality from the following companies: BioRad Laboratories (Munich, Germany), PerBio Science (Bonn, Germany), Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Heidelberg, Germany), SERVA Electrophoresis (Heidelberg, Germany), Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH (Deisenhofen, Germany) and Th. Geyer (Hamburg, Germany). Plasmids and molecular cloning reagents were obtained from Invitrogen (Karlsruhe, Germany), Stratagene (Waldbronn, Germany) and Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). Restriction enzymes were obtained from New England Biolabs (Frankfurt am Main, Germany). Oligonucleotides were ordered from metabion (Munich, Germany). All nucleotides used in this thesis work are listed in the Appendix section. Plasmid Maxi Kit and QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit were obtained from Qiagen (Hilden, Germany). GFX Micro Plasmid Prep Kit was obtained from GE Healthcare (München, Germany). Cell culture materials were obtained from PAA Laboratories GmbH (Cölbe, Germany).

2.1.2. Buffers and solutions

isolation)

0.25 M sucrose	0.25 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4
0.32 M sucrose	0.32 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For whole	1 mM MgCl ₂
brain homogenization and	1 mM CaCl ₂
membrane fraction	1 mM NaHCO ₃

5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

MATERIALS AND METHODS

0.5 M sucrose	0.5 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

0.8 M sucrose	0.8 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

1 M sucrose	1 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
membrane fraction	1 mM CaCl ₂
isolation)	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

1.1 M sucrose	1.1 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

1.2 M sucrose	1.2 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
membrane fraction	1 mM CaCl ₂
isolation)	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

1.3 M sucrose	1.3 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂

1 mM NaHCO₃ 5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4

2 M sucrose	2 M sucrose
in Tris buffer (For	1 mM MgCl ₂
isolation of endosomes)	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM NaHCO ₃
	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4
Blocking solution (For ELISA)	1% BSA in TBS
Blocking solution	5% skimmed milk powder in TBST or PBST
(For protein immunostaining)
Buffer A	TBS
(For ELISA)	1% BSA
	1 mM CaCl ₂
	1 mM MgCl ₂
	0.05% Tween
μ-Calpain proteolysis buffer	20 mM Tris pH7.4
(µ-Calpain proteolysis	25 mM NaCl
assay)	0.15 mM CaCl ₂
	0.03 µg µ-Calpain (Sigma)

DNA-sample buffer	20% (w/v) glycerol in TAE
(5x concentrated)	0.025% (w/v) orange G

(For DNA agarose gels)

1	DNA elution buffer	10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0
	DNA elution buffer	10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0

Elution buffer	50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4
	-

MATERIALS AND METHODS		
(For GST protein purification)	20 mM glutathione, reduced	
Elution buffer	50 mM NaH ₂ PO ₄	
(For His protein	300 mM NaCl	
purification)	250 mM imidazole	
	рН 8.0	
Ethidium bromide solution	10 µg/ml ethidium bromide in 1xTAE	
(For DNA agarose gels)		
Lysis buffer	50 mM K ₂ HPO ₄	
(For GST protein	400 mM NaCl	
purification)	100 mM KCl	
	10% (v/v) glycerol	
	0.5% (v/v) Triton X-100	
	10 mM imidazole	
	Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free (Roche)	
Lysis buffer	50 mM NaH ₂ PO ₄	
(For His protein	300 mM NaCl	
purification)	10 mM imidazole	
	рН 8.0	
Modified RIPA buffer	50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4	
(For brain homogenates and	150 mM NaCl	
membrane fractions)	2 mM EDTA	
	1 mM NaF	
	1 mM Na ₃ VO ₄	
	1% NP-40	
	0.5% SDS	
	100 μ M PMSF (added just before use)	
	Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free (Roche)	

Modified RIPA buffer 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 (For cell lysates) 150 mM NaCl 1 mM EDTA 1 mM NaF 1 mM Na₃VO₄ 1% NP-40 100 µM PMSF (add just before use) Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free (Roche) Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail I (Sigma-Aldrich) PBS 150 mM NaCl 10 mM Na₂HPO₄ 2.5 mM NaH₂PO₄ 3 mM KCl pH 7.4 PBST 150 mM NaCl (For protein 10 mM Na₂HPO₄ immunostaining) 2.5 mM NaH₂PO₄ 3 mM KCl 0.05% Tween-20 PBS with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (PAA) PBSCM Pull-down buffer 20 mM Tris pH 7.4 100 mM NaCl Quenching solution 20 mM glycine in PBSCM (For cell surface biotinylation)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail I (Sigma-Aldrich)
MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample buffer with DTT	8% SDS
for protein gels	320 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8
(4x concentrated)	40% Glycerol
	10 mg/ml DTT
	0.1% bromphenol blue
SDS-PAGE	192 mM glycine
running buffer	25 mM Tris
	0.1% SDS
Staining solution	40% (v/v) ethanol
(For Coomassie staining	10% (v/v) acetic acid
of SDS-PAGE gels)	0.1% (w/v) Coomassie Brilliant blue R250
Stripping buffer	25 mM glycine
(For protein	1 % SDS
immunostaining)	pH 2.0
Substrate solution	100 mM sodium acetate pH 5.0
(For ELISA)	2% ABTS
	30 % H ₂ O ₂
Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin	in PBSCM
(Pierce) (For cell surface	
biotinylation)	
TBS	100 mM Tris
(10x concentrated)	1.5 M NaCl
()	pH 7.4
	1
TBST	10 mM Tris
(For protein	150 mM NaCl
immunostaining)	0.05% Tween-20

MATERIALS AND METHODS

pH 7.4

Transfer buffer	192 mM glycine
(For Western blotting	25 mM Tris
of SDS-polyacrylamide gels)) 10-20% methanol
Tris EDTA acetate (TAE)	2 M Tris-Acetate, pH 8.0
DNA gel running buffer	100 mM EDTA
(50x concentrated)	
Tris buffer	5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4
(For membrane fraction	Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free (Roche)
isolation)	
Washing buffer	PBS
(For GST protein	1% Triton X-100
purification)	1 mM DTT
Washing buffer	50 mM NaH ₂ PO ₄
(For His protein	300 mM NaCl
purification)	20 mM imidazole
	рН 8.0

2.1.3. Primary antibodies

Primary antibodies used in this thesis, their characteristics, and sources:

Name	Host	Epitope	Source
14-3-3 (H8)	Mouse	N-terminus of human 14-3-3β	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
14-3-3β	Rabbit	N-terminus of human 14-3-3β	Immunobiological Laboratories

14-3-3ζ	Rabbit	N-terminal part of human 14-3-3ζ (residues MDKNELVQK)	Immunobiological Laboratories
Alpha II spectrin (non-erythroid)	Mouse	C-terminus of non-erythroid alpha II spectrin (15-20 repetitive units)	Chemicon International
c-Myc (9E10)	Mouse	C-terminal domain of human c- Myc (residues 408-439)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
GST	Goat	Unknown	GE Healthcare
L1 557	Rat	Fibronectin type III repeats 2 and 3 (FN _{III} 2/3) of the L1 extracellular domain	Schachner laboratory
L1 Cell Adhesion Molecule Ab-1 (Clone UJ127)	Mouse	Unknown	Dianova GmbH
L1 CAM	Rabbit	Extracellular domain of murine L1	PINEDA
L1 Monoclonal Antibody	Mouse	Cytoplasmic domain of murine L1 (adjacent to the YRSL sorting signal)	HISS Diagnostics GmbH
NCAM 1β1	Rabbit	Extracellular domain of murine NCAM	Schachner laboratory
NCAM 1β2	Rabbit	Extracellular domain of murine NCAM	Schachner laboratory
Penta-His	Mouse	N-terminal, C-terminal, and internal 6xHis tags	Qiagen GmbH

2.1.4. Secondary antibodies

Secondary antibodies used in this thesis and their sources:

Name	Source
Peroxidase-conjugated mouse anti-rabbit	Jackson ImmunoResearch laboratories;
IgG (H + L)	purchased through Dianova GmbH
	(Hamburg, Germany).
Peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG	Jackson ImmunoResearch laboratories;
+ IgM (H + L)	purchased through Dianova GmbH
	(Hamburg, Germany).
Peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti-mouse	Jackson ImmunoResearch laboratories;
IgG (H+L)	purchased through Dianova GmbH
(min X Bov, Ck, Gt, GP, Sy Hms, Hrs, Hu,	(Hamburg, Germany).
Rb, Shp Sr Prot)	
Peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit	Jackson ImmunoResearch laboratories;
IgG (H+L)	purchased through Dianova GmbH
(min X Bov, Ck, Gt, GP, Sy Hms, Hrs, Hu,	(Hamburg, Germany).
Ms, Rat, Shp Sr Prot)	

2.1.5. Bacterial and mammalian cell culture medium

Bacterial media were autoclaved and antibiotics were supplemented prior to use.

DMEM	Dulbecco's MEM, high glucose
(For HEK 293 cells)	10% fetal calf serum
	20 ml/l penicillin/streptomycin solution (100x)
	10% L-Glutamine
	10% sodium pyruvate

MATERIALS AND METHODS

LB medium	10 g/l Bacto-tryptone 10 g/l Na Cl 5 g/l Yeast extract
LB ampicillin medium	100 mg/l ampicillin in LB medium
LB ampicillin plates	20 g/l agar in LB medium 100 mg/l ampicillin
LB kanamycin medium	25 mg/l kanamycin in LB medium
LB kanamycin plates	20 g/l agar in LB medium 25 mg/l kanamycin
LB ampicillin/kanamycin medium	100 mg/l ampicillin 25 mg/l kanamycin in LB medium
LB ampicillin/kanamycin plates	20 g/l agar in LB medium 100 mg/l ampicillin 25 mg/l kanamycin
LB chloramphenicol/ ampicillin plates	20 g/l agar in LB medium 34 mg/l chloramphenicol 100 mg/l ampicillin

2.1.6. Bacterial cells

E. coli BL21(DE3)	F, $ompT$, $hsdSB$ ($r_b m_b$), gal dcm (DE3)
(For protein overexpression)	Novagene, VWR International GmbH (Darmstadt,
	Germany)

E. coli BL21(DE3)pLysS F, *ompT*, *hsdSB* ($r_b m_b$), *gal dcm* (DE3) pLysS (Cam^R) (For protein overexpression) Invitrogen GmbH (Karlsruhe, Germany)

 Φ 80*lac*Z Δ M15 Δ *lac*X74 *rec*A1 *deo*R

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Invitrogen GmbH (Karlsruhe, Germany)

F⁻, ϕ 80d*lac*Z Δ M15, Δ (*lacZYA-argF*)U169,

supE44, λ -, thi-1, gyrA96, relA1

deoR, recA1, endA1, hsdR17(rk⁻⁻,mk⁺), phoA,

New England Biolabs GmbH (Frankfurt am Main,

F' *lac*Iq, Tn10(TetR) *mcrA* Δ (*mrr-hsd*RMS-*mcr*BC)

araD139 (ara-leu)7697 galU galK rpsL (StrR) endA1

E. coli M15	derived from E. coli K12
(For protein overexpression)	Nal ^S , Str ^S , Rif ^S , Thi ⁻ , Lac ⁻ , Ara ⁺ , Gal ⁺ , Mtl ⁻ ,
	F ⁻ , RecA ⁺ , Uvr ⁺ , Lon ⁺
	Qiagen GmbH (Hilden, Germany)

Germany)

nupG

2.1.7. Cell lines

E. coli BL21-AITM

E. coli DH5α

(For cloning)

E. coli TOP10F'

(For cloning)

(For protein overexpression)

Mammalian cell lines were utilized for ectopic protein expression.

HEK293 cells	Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK) epithelial cell line	
SH-SY5Y cells	Derivative of neuroblastoma cell line SK-N-SH	
2.1.8. Plasmid constructs		
pcDNA3-L1	For expression of full length neuronal L1 in mammalian cells	

MATERIALS AND METHODS

pcDNA3/6xmyc	Mammalian expression vector for 6x myc-tagged proteins. Derived from pcDNA3 vector (Invitrogen) and generated in the Schachner laboratory
pcDNA3/6xmyc – 14-3-3β	For expression of $6x$ myc-tagged full-length 14-3-3 β in mammalian cells
pcDNA TM 3.1/myc-his – alpha II spectrin 10-14	For expression of myc-histidine-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 in mammalian cells
pcDNA TM 3.1/myc-his – alpha II spectrin 10-14	For expression of myc-histidine-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 mutant S1302A in mammalian cells. Generated by S1302A site-directed mutation of Ser ¹³⁰² to Ala in pcDNA TM 3.1/myc-his – alpha II specrin 10-14
pCI - alpha II spectrin	For expression of flag-tagged full length non-erythroid alpha II spectrinin mammalian cells. Provided by Dr. J. Morrow, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA
pDEST15 - 14-3-3β	For overexpression of glutathione S transferase (GST)-tagged full length 14-3-3 β protein in bacteria. Obtained from Dr. H. Fu, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
pDEST15 – 14-3-3ζ	For overexpression of GST-tagged 14-3-3ζ protein in bacteria Obtained from Dr. H. Fu, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
pDEST26 - 14-3-3ζ	For expression of histidine-tagged 14-3-3 ζ in mammalian cells Obtained from Dr. H. Fu, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
pDEST26 - 14-3-3ζ K49E	For expression of histidine-tagged 14-3-3 ζ K49E in mammalian cells. Obtained from Dr. H. Fu, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

pGEX-2T - 14-3-3β	For overexpression of GST-tagged 14-3-3 β in bacteria. Provided by Dr. Y. Takihara, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan
pGEX-4T-2	Expression vector for GST-tagged recombinant proteins in bacteria
pGEX-4T-2 – alpha II spectrin 10-14	For overexpression of GST-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 in bacteria
pGEX-4T-2 – alpha II spectrin 10-14-S1302A	For overexpression of GST-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 in mutant S1302A in bacteria. Generated by mutating Ser ¹³⁰² to Ala in pGEX-4T2 – alpha II spectrin 10-14
pQE30 – µ2	For overexpression of histidine-tagged µ2 subunit of the adaptor protein AP2 in bacteria. Provided by Dr. V. Haucke, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany
pQE30 – L1 ICD	For overexpression of histidine-tagged L1 ICD in bacteria. Obtained from G. Wolters, ZMNH, Germany
pQE30 – L1 ICD-S1181A	For overexpression of histidine-tagged L1 ICD mutant S1181A in bacteria. Generated by of Ser ¹¹⁸¹ -> Ala mutation in pQE30 – L1 ICD
pQE30 – L1 ICD ΔRSLESD	For overexpression of histidine-tagged L1 ICD with a RSLESD-motif deletion in bacteria. RSLESD sequence deleted in pQE30 – L1 ICD generated by PCR

2.1.9. DNA and protein standards

1 kb DNA ladder	Invitrogen GmbH
-----------------	-----------------

Precision Plus ProteinTM Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH

Dual Color Standards

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Molecular biology

2.2.1.1. Transformation of chemically-competent bacteria

(Sambrook, 1989)

To 100 µl of competent BL21(DE3), BL21(DE3)pLysS, DH5 α , M15 or TOP10F' cells, either 50-100 ng of plasmid DNA, 10 µl of DNA ligation mixture (see 2.1.3b), or 10 µl of DpnItreated PCR-mutagenesis mixture (see 2.1.8) were added and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. After a heat shock (2 minutes, 42°C) and a brief incubation period on ice (3 minutes), 800 µl of either LB or SOC medium (without antibiotics) were added to the bacteria and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 1 h. The cell suspension was then centrifuged (1,000 x g, 1 minute, RT) and the supernatant removed. The cells were resuspended in 50 µl of LB medium and aliquots of suspension were plated on LB plates containing the appropriate antibiotics. Plates were incubated at 37°C overnight.

2.2.1.2. Plasmid isolation

All plasmids were isolated using Qiagen or GE Healthcare plasmid preparation kits (see 2.1.1) according to the respective manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.1.3. DNA restriction and ligation

2.2.1.3a. Restriction digestion of DNA

All restriction digestions were carried out using restriction enzymes supplied by New England Biolabs (NEB) in accordance with the supplied instructions and technical references (http://www.neb.com).

2.2.1.3b. Ligation of DNA fragments

(Rapid ligation Kit, Roche)

Ligation of DNA fragments was performed by mixing 10 fmol of vector DNA with either 30 or 50 fmol of insert DNA in 1x concentrated DNA dilution buffer. 1 μ l of T4 DNA ligase and 10 μ l of ligation buffer were added to a final volume of 40 μ l. The reaction was incubated overnight at RT. 10 μ l of the ligation mixture were used for transformation of bacteria.

2.2.1.4. DNA gel electrophoresis

(Sambrook et al., 1989)

DNA fragments were separated in agarose gels by horizontal electrophoresis in DNA electrophoresis chambers (Bio-Rad Laboratories). To prepare the gels, agarose (1% w/v) was dissolved in 1x concentrated TAE buffer by heating, poured into gel electrophoresis trays, and allowed to solidify. Thereafter, the gels were placed in appropriate electrophoresis chambers and covered with 1x concentrated TAE buffer. DNA samples for electrophoresis were prepared by mixing the necessary volume of DNA with DNA sample buffer. The mixtures were pipetted into the agarose gel sample pockets and the gel was run at constant voltage (10 V/cm gel length). Afterwards, the gel was stained with ethidium bromide staining solution for 20-30 minutes and documented using the E.A.S.Y. UV-light documentation system (Herolab, Wiesloch, Germany).

2.2.1.5. Extraction of DNA fragments from agarose gels

To extract DNA fragments from agarose gels, ethidium bromide-stained gels were illuminated shortly with UV-light and the appropriate DNA band was excised from the gel with a clean scalpel. The excised band was placed into an Eppendorf tube. The DNA was extracted from the agarose using the QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen) following the manufacturer's protocol. The extracted DNA was resuspended in elution buffer.

2.2.1.6. Determination of DNA concentration

DNA concentrations were determined by UV spectroscopy. In general, an aliquot of the DNA sample was diluted with distilled water for analysis. The DNA concentration of the diluted sample was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm (A₂₆₀) and 280 nm (A₂₈₀). A₂₆₀ readings between 0.1 and 1.0 were considered reliable. The DNA concentration of the sample was calculated from the A₂₆₀, taking into account the dilution factor of the analyzed sample (A₂₆₀ = 1 corresponds to a concentration of 50 µg/ml of double stranded DNA). A A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio of between 1.8 and 2.0 was used as a measure of adequate purity of the DNA preparation for further experimentation.

2.2.1.7. DNA sequencing

DNA sequencing was performed by the ZMNH sequencing facility in Hamburg. For sequencing, 1 μ g of DNA was diluted in 7 μ l double distilled water along with the appropriate sequencing primer (10 pM final concentration).

2.2.1.8. DNA amplification

Amplification of DNA fragments was performed in a 50 μ l reaction mixture using the HotStarTaq Master Mix (Qiagen). The following composition was used for a typical amplification reaction:

Component	Volume/amount
HotStarTaq Master Mix	25 µl
Forward primer	20 pmol
Reverse primer	20 pmol
Template DNA	50 ng (< 1 μ g/50 μ l reaction)
Total volume	50 µl

2.2.1.9. Site-directed mutagenesis

Single amino acid mutations were made using the QuikChange® II XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene) following the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The following composition was generally used for site-directed mutagenesis reactions:

Component	Volume/amount
10x reaction buffer	5 µl
double-stranded DNA template	50 ng
mut primer-5' (0.1 µg/µl)	2.5 μl
mut primer-3' (0.1 µg/µl)	2.5 µl
dNTP mix (proprietary mixture)	1 µl
QuikSolution	3 µl
H ₂ O	Adj. to 50 µl
Pfu Ultra HF polymerase (2.5 U/µl)	1 µl

2.2.2. Protein biochemistry

2.2.2.1. Protein quantification (Bicinchoninic Acid assay)

Protein concentrations were determined with the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein quantification kit (Pierce) following the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.2.2. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Protein samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions using the Mini-Protean II system (Bio-Rad) and following standard SDS-PAGE protocols (Laemmli, 1970). The percentage of acrylamide to be used (8-14 %) was determined based on the molecular weight of the protein being analyzed. The following gel composition was used for the running gel: 375 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.025% APS, and 0.001% TEMED, plus acrylamide/bis solution 29:1 based on the required acrylamide content. For the stacking gel, the following composition was used: 125 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.06% APS, and 0.025% TEMED, plus acrylamide/bis solution 29:1 required for 5% (w/v) acrylamide. After polymerisation of the gels, the electrophoresis chamber was assembled as described by the manufacturer. Samples were diluted with appropriate amounts of 2x concentrated SDS sample buffer then boiled for 5 min at 95°C in order to completely denature the proteins. After loading the samples onto the gel, the gel chamber was filled with 1x concentrated SDS running buffer. Electrophoresis was performed at a constant voltage of 90 V for approximately 15 minutes to allow the proteins to fully enter the stacking gel, and then at 120 V until the bromophenol blue running front had reached the bottom of the gel. Gels were either stained with Coomassie or subjected to Western blotting.

2.2.2.3. Coomassie staining of SDS-polyacrylamide gels

Gels were stained in Coomassie staining solution for 1 h at RT under constant agitation. Afterwards, the gels were incubated in de-staining solution until the background of the gel appeared nearly transparent.

2.2.2.4. Western blotting

Proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were transferred onto a Protran® nitrocellulose membrane using a MINI TRANSBLOT-apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories). After equilibration of the polyacrylamide gel in transfer buffer, a blotting sandwich was assembled as described in the manufacturer's protocol. Proteins were transferred at 4°C in blotting buffer at constant voltage (90 V for 1-2 h). Prestained protein markers from Bio-Rad Laboratories were used as molecular weight indicators and to monitor successful protein transfer to the nitrocellulose membrane.

2.2.2.5. Protein immunostaining

After electrophoretic transfer, membranes were removed from the blotting sandwiches and placed with the protein-bound side up in glass or plastic vessels. Membranes were washed once with TBST for 5 minutes and then incubated under gentle shaking for 1 h at RT in blocking solution to block the unreacted sites on the membranes to reduce the amount of non-specific binding of proteins in subsequent steps. After the blocking step, membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with an appropriate primary antibody diluted in either blocking

solution or PBST with 3-5% (w/v) BSA. The primary antibody solution was removed the next day and membranes were washed 6x 5 minutes with TBST under constant shaking. The membranes were incubated with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody, diluted 1:10,000 in blocking solution, for 1-3 h at RT, then washed 6x 5 minutes as before. Immunoreactive bands were visualized using the SuperSignal West Dura or SuperSignal West Pico enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (Pierce). The membranes were soaked for 5 min in detection solution (1:1 mixture of solutions I and II). The solution was removed and the blots were placed between transparent plastic sheets. The membranes were exposed to BIOMAX ML (Kodak) for several time periods (between 1 min and 6 h) to visualize protein bands.

2.2.3. Expression of recombinant proteins in Escherichia coli

For recombinant expression of proteins in *E. coli*, the appropriate *E. coli* strain was transformed with the expression plasmid encoding the construct of interest and transformants were selected on LB plates containing the proper selection antibiotic. LB medium (20 - 50 ml) with the selection antibiotic was inoculated with a single colony and incubated overnight at 37°C with constant agitation. The overnight bacterial culture was used as a starter inoculum at a ratio of 1:20 - 1:50 and incubated at 37°C under constant agitation until the culture had reached an optical density (A₆₀₀) of 0.4 - 0.6. Protein expression was induced by adding IPTG (0.5-1.0 mM) or L-arabinose (0.2%) to the culture with further incubation for 3-4 h at 37°C. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation (4,000 x g, 4°C, 20 minutes) and pellets stored at -20° C. Protein expression was examined by Western blot analysis of small samples taken from the culture supernatant before and after IPTG/L-arabinose induction.

2.2.3.1. Bacterial lysis by French press

Bacterial pellets were resuspended in lysis buffer (10- 20 ml lysis buffer per 500 ml culture). The suspension was transferred to a pre-cooled French-Pressure-20K-chamber (capacity 40 ml). Bacteria were compressed (Spectronic Instruments/SLM Aminco, 10000 psi, 3 minutes) and lysed by opening the valve carefully. This procedure was repeated 3 times. The lysate was then centrifuged (10,000 x g, 20 minutes, 4°C) in a Beckman centrifuge to pellet the cellular debris.

2.2.3.2. Protein purification (native conditions)

Glutathione S transferase- (GST-) tagged proteins were purified using glutathione agarose beads (Sigma-Aldrich). The captured protein was eluted from the beads according to the manufacturer's protocol. Histidine-tagged proteins were purified using Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen), and protein purification was carried out following the manufacturer's protocol.

2.2.4. Protein-protein interaction detection methods

2.2.4.1. GST-pull down assay

Protein pull-down experiments were performed to investigate the direct interaction between 14-3-3 ζ protein and the ICD of L1. Recombinant 14-3-3 ζ protein tagged with GST was expressed in bacteria and purified on glutathione sepharose bead columns (Sigma-Aldrich). GST alone was bound to glutathione sepharose beads and used as a control. All steps of the experiments were carried out on ice or at 4°C. GST-14-3-3 ζ and GST bound to beads (50 µl) were washed once with pull-down buffer (~150 µl). Pull-down buffer containing 5% (w/v) BSA was added to the protein-loaded beads and the beads were incubated at 4°C for 2 h with constant shaking. Recombinantly expressed and purified L1 ICD constructs were added to the mixture and the samples allowed to incubate overnight at 4°C with constant gentle shaking. The beads were washed once with pull-down buffer supplemented with 0.5% NP-40 and once with pull-down buffer. 2x concentrated SDS sample buffer (75 µl) was added to the bead mixture and samples were boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes to elute bound proteins for Western blot analysis.

2.2.4.2. Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA experiments served to investigate the direct interaction between 14-3-3 proteins and the ICD of L1. 14-3-3 β or ζ protein tagged with GST- and histidine-tagged L1 ICD were expressed in bacteria and purified. Purified L1 ICD (5 µg/ml in TBS) was immobilized overnight at 4°C on a polyvinyl chloride surface in a 96-well plate (Nunc-Immunomodule Maxisorb, Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) under constant gentle shaking (50 µl/well). Recombinant NCAM 180 intracellular domain was used as a control. The subsequent incubation and washing steps of the ELISA experiments were performed at RT. All incubation steps were performed with 50 μ l/well and washing steps with 100 μ l/well. First, blocking of unreacted sites on the membrane was performed with blocking solution for 1 h. GST-14-3-3 β or ζ protein diluted in buffer A was added and incubated for 1 h. The wells were then washed 3 times with TBST. Primary antibody and its respective HRP-coupled secondary antibody were used for the detection of bound protein. For visualization of protein binding, 50 μ l of freshly prepared ABTS substrate solution was applied to the wells. The product of the HRP-catalyzed reaction was quantified by measuring the absorbance at 405 nm using an ELISA reader (Kcjunior).

2.2.4.3. Co-immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitation experiments were conducted with several different antibodies using protein A or protein A/G sepharose beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). 1-2 mg of total protein from brain homogenates, total membrane fractions, or HEK 293 cell lysates were incubated with 1-2 ml of ice-cold radio immunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer for 1 h at 4°C under constant gentle shaking. Samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x *g* for 20 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant was pre-cleared with 15 μ l of resuspended sepharose protein A or A/G beads by incubating 3 hours at 4°C with constant gentle shaking. After pre-clearing, the beads were pelleted down by centrifugation at 500 x *g* for 5 minutes. The supernatant was carefully transferred to a clean tube and then incubated with corresponding antibodies or antibody control overnight at 4°C with constant mixing. Antibody-target protein-complexes were captured with the respective sepharose beads by incubating the samples for up to 3 h at 4°C, followed by washing 3 times with ice-cold RIPA buffer and once with PBS. Captured proteins were eluted by adding 2x concentrated SDS sample buffer and boiling at 95°C for 5 minutes. The eluted proteins were analyzed by Western blotting.

2.2.4.4. Casein kinase II phosphorylation *in vitro*

To phosphorylate recombinant GST- or histidine-tagged fusion proteins in vitro, purified proteins were incubated with 1 unit of CK II (500 Units/ml, NEB), 200 μ M ATP, and 1x

concentrated casein kinase II buffer (NEB) for 3 h at 30°C in a total reaction volume of 50 μ l. The phosphorylated proteins were used for further experiments.

2.2.4.5. Calpain cleavage assay

Calpain cleavage of recombinant GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 was performed by incubating the protein with 0.03 μ g of μ -calpain (Sigma), 150 μ M CaCl₂, 20 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 25 mM NaCl, and 10 mM DTT for 30 min at 30°C in a total reaction volume of 25 μ l. The cleavage reaction was stopped by adding 1x concentrated SDS sample buffer.

2.2.5. Subcellular fractionation of mouse brain homogenates by differential density gradient centrifugation

2.2.5.1. Isolation of total membrane fraction

Whole brains of 3-weeks-old mice (C57BL/6J) were dissected quickly on ice and either frozen in liquid nitrogen for storage $(-80^{\circ}C)$ or immediately processed. To obtain sufficient amounts of total membrane fraction, at least 2 mouse brains were used. Each brain was homogenized in 2 ml of ice cold 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer using 15 strokes of a Dounce homogenizer to obtain a homogenate. All tissues and buffers were maintained at 4°C throughout the experiment. All centrifugation steps were done at 4°C using pre-chilled centrifuges, rotors and tubes. The homogenates of 2 brains were mixed and a 50 µl aliquot was taken for analysis of brain homogenate protein levels. The mixture of homogenates obtained was centrifuged at 1,400 x g for 10 minutes to pellet tissue debris, nuclei and large myelin fragments (pellet P1). The supernatant (S1) was carefully decanted and placed in a tube on ice. The pellet was resuspended and centrifuged again at 700 x g for 10 minutes. This centrifugation step was performed two more times. The pellet fractions were pooled and resuspended in 1 M sucrose in Tris buffer by repeated pipetting (final volume of 20 ml). The pooled pellet fractions were layered on 10 ml of 1.2 M sucrose in Tris buffer. On top of this first layer, 6 ml of 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer was carefully layered. Pellet P5, obtained by centrifugation of S4 at 17,500 x g for 15 min and resuspended in 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer to a final volume of 5 ml, was carefully layered on top of a second sucrose gradient. This second gradient consisted of 20 ml 1 M sucrose in Tris buffer on a cushion of 10 ml of 1.2 M sucrose in Tris buffer. Both sucrose gradients were centrifuged at 82,705 x g for 2 h. The interface between 1 M and 1.2 M sucrose was enriched in the crude membrane fraction. This interface was carefully collected with a Pasteur pipette from both gradients and pooled. The collected crude membrane fraction was purified on a gradient again. The fraction thus obtained was resuspended with 1 M sucrose in Tris buffer (20 ml total volume). The suspension was layered onto 10 ml of 1.2 M sucrose in Tris buffer to create a discontinuous gradient. As before, 6 ml of 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer was carefully layered on top and the gradient was centrifuged at 82,705 x g for 2 h. The interface between 1 M and 1.2 M sucrose contained the 2-fold enriched membrane fraction. The enriched membrane fraction was resuspended in 5 mM Tris buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and centrifuged again at 82,705 x g for 30 minutes. Appropriate amounts of protease inhibitors were added and the fraction was stored at -80° C until further use.

2.2.5.2. Isolation of endosomes

To isolate endosomal fractions, 7-days-old mice (C57BL/6J; n = 20-40) were dissected quickly on ice and immediately homogenized in ice cold 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer. The brain homogenates were centrifuged at 17,000 x g for 1 h. The 17,000 x g-supernatant thus obtained was centrifuged at 100,000 x g for 1 h. The subsequent 100,000 x g-pellet was homogenized in 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer and loaded onto a step gradient comprising layers of 2, 1.3, 1.1, 0.8, 0.5 and 0.25 M sucrose. The gradients were centrifuged at 100,000 x g for 2 h. Nine 1 ml-fractions were collected from the top of the gradient and homogenized in 0.32 M sucrose in Tris buffer. After another centrifugation step at 100,000 x g for 30 min, each of the nine fractions, enriched in distinct endosomes, was collected and the total amount of protein was estimated by the BCA test. These endosomal fractions were used for further experiments.

2.2.6. Mammalian cell culture

2.2.6.1. Maintenance of HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells

HEK 293 or SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in DMEM with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) and 2% penicillin/streptomycin at 37°C, 5% CO₂ and 90% relative humidity in 75 cm² flasks (10

ml medium) or in six-well plates with 2 ml of medium. Cells were passaged when they were confluent (usually after 2-3 days). Medium was removed and cells were detached by incubation with 2 ml trypsin/EDTA solution (0.05%/0.02%) for up to 5 minutes at RT. Cells were resuspended in 8 ml fresh medium and were split 1:10 for continued culturing or they were seeded into 6-well plates for transfection.

2.2.6.2. Transient transfection of HEK 293 and SH-SY5Y cells

HEK 293 cells or SH-SY5Y cells were transfected transiently with plasmids using FUGENE 6 (Roche) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Transfected cells were grown for 24-48 hours to allow for recombinant protein expression.

2.2.6.3. Lysis of HEK 293 cells

After growing transiently-transfected HEK 293 cells, medium was removed from the cells and they were washed twice with ice-cold PBS. Cells were scraped into PBS, transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube and pelleted at 1,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The cells were lysed in 0.3-0.6 ml of RIPA buffer per well with constant agitation for 1 hour at 4°C. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation (10,000 x g, 4°C, 15 minutes). The supernatant was used for immunoprecipitation.

2.2.6.4. Cell surface biotinylation

To investigate the presence of L1 at the surface of transfected SH-SY5Y cells, cell surface biotinylation was performed as described before (Baqui et al., 2003). SH-SY5Y cells, expressing L1 endogenously, were transfected with 14-3-3 ζ constructs in a 6-well plate (2 µg of DNA per well). Two days after transfection, cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBSCM. Surface proteins were biotinylated by incubating cells with 0.5 mg/ml cell-impermeant Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin (Pierce) (1 ml/well) in PBSCM for 10 min on ice. Biotinylation was quenched by incubation with 20 mM glycine in PBSCM on ice followed by washing with PBSCM (1 ml/well, 2 times). Biotinylated cells were lysed by addition of RIPA buffer (350 µl/well), followed by incubation at 4°C for 30 min. The supernatants were collected after centrifugation (700 x g) at 4°C for 10 min and protein concentrations were determined using the BCA kit (Pierce). The amount of surface-localized proteins was

determined by precipitating biotinylated proteins from the cell lysate with streptavidin coupled magnetic beads (DYNAL Biotech, Invitrogen) at 4°C overnight. To determine the proportion of surface L1, aliquots of the supernatant were collected before and after the addition of streptavidin beads. The beads were pelleted on a magnetic stand, washed twice with 1 ml of RIPA buffer, then once with PBS. Precipitated proteins were solubilized by addition of 50 μ l of 2x concentrated SDS sample buffer to the beads. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis was performed with an anti-L1 (human) mouse monoclonal (Dianova) and the isoform-specific anti-14-3-3 ζ monoclonal antibody (Immunobiological Laboratories).

3. Results

The results section consists of two parts. The first part describes the finding that brain alpha II spectrin is a direct binding partner of the signaling protein 14-3-3 β , and the characterization of the interaction between 14-3-3 and alpha II spectrin (see pages 49-57). In the second part, the discovery of the cell adhesion molecule L1 as a 14-3-3-binding partner is documented. This part includes an analysis of the L1 - 14-3-3-interaction and its implications for L1 phosphorylation (see pages 58-68).

3.1. Alpha II spectrin interacts with the signaling molecule 14-3-3

3.1.1. Identification of alpha II spectrin as a potential 14-3-3β-interacting protein

14-3-3 proteins are known to regulate a variety of both general and specialized signaling pathways by binding to specific phosphoserine- and phosphothreonine-containing motifs within target proteins (Muslin et al., 1996). The functional complexity of 14-3-3 proteins is reflected in the increasing number of binding partners that have been identified so far (Fu et al., 2000). Although 14-3-3 proteins are highly abundant in the brain, the number of identified 14-3-3-binding partners in brain is small so far.

In the course of my diploma thesis (Ramser, 2005), I used affinity chromatography to identify cellular proteins from the brain that may interact with 14-3-3 proteins. Human GST-tagged 14-3-3 β was coupled to GSH-agarose and incubated with soluble and membrane fractions isolated from 3 week-old wild-type mouse brains. 14-3-3-interacting proteins were purified from both fractions by elution with R18 peptide (Petosa et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999). Proteins from the membrane fraction bound to GST-14-3-3 β were compared to the eluate from a GST-tag column to control for non-specific protein interactions. Among the eluted proteins, a protein of ~280 kDa was specifically enriched in the GST-14-3-3 β eluate (Fig. 5). Analysis of this 280 kDa protein by ESI tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), which was performed by Dr. Fritz Buck (Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf), identified it as the cytoskeletal protein alpha II spectrin.



Figure 5: Identification of nonerythroid alpha II spectrin as a 14-3-3 interacting protein from murine brain membrane fraction. Colloidal Coomassie-stained SDS-PAGE gel of membrane fraction eluates from the GST-14-3-3 β affinity column and GSTonly column (control).

The interaction of non-erythroid alpha II spectrin with $14-3-3\beta$ protein was further investigated in the present study.

3.1.2. 14-3-3β binds endogenous alpha II spectrin from mouse brain

To validate the interaction of 14-3-3 β with alpha II spectrin, a GST-14-3-3 β pull-down experiment was conducted. The experiment was performed with murine brain membrane fractions to confirm the association between the two proteins. As shown in Fig. 6, full-length alpha II spectrin (~280 kDa) was efficiently pulled down with beads on which recombinant GST-tagged 14-3-3 β had been immobilized, but not with beads loaded with GST alone (control). C-terminal breakdown products (BDP: ~150 kDa and ~145 kDa), resulting from calpain and caspase cleavage during post-lysis proteolysis (Wang et al., 1998; Nedrelow et al., 2003), could also be detected via the monoclonal anti-mouse alpha II spectrin antibody (Fig. 6), which binds to the C-terminal region of the alpha II spectrin molecule (Wang et al., 1998).



Figure 6: 14-3-3 β binds endogenous alpha II spectrin from crude brain membrane fraction. Murine brain membrane fraction was incubated with GST-14-3-3 β coupled to glutathione beads or GST control beads. Bound protein was resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting with the indicated antibody. Cleavage products probably generated by calpain and caspase were also detectable with the monoclonal anti-alpha II spectrin antibody (indicated by arrows).

3.1.3. Co-immunoprecipitation of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3β

Co-immunoprecipitation was chosen as a further method to confirm the interaction of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3 proteins. For this experiment, a 14-3-3 β isoform-specific antibody was used to co-precipitate alpha II spectrin from mouse brain membrane fractions solubilized in detergent-containing buffer. Western blot analysis of the 14-3-3 β immunoprecipitates revealed the presence of full-length alpha II spectrin (280 kDa) (Fig. 7; upper panel). Spectrin cleavage products were also detected in the 14-3-3 β precipitate, but no co-immunoprecipitation of alpha II spectrin was observed when a control IgG was used for immunoprecipitation (Fig. 7; upper panel). These results strongly suggest that alpha II spectrin is associated with 14-3-3 β in the brain, and further confirm the interaction shown in the chromatography and pull-down assay.



Figure 7: Co-immunoprecipitation reveals 14-3-3 β - alpha II spectrin complexes in mouse brain. *Upper panel:* Co-immunoprecipitation from crude brain membrane fractions (MF) was performed using an antibody against 14-3-3 β . Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with an anti-alpha II spectrin antibody. *Lower panel:* Western blot analysis of the co-precipitates was also performed with an anti-14-3-3 β antibody, in order to show that 14-3-3 β was successfully precipitated from the membrane fraction.

3.1.4. NCAM – spectrin - 14-3-3 complexes in mouse brain

Alpha II spectrin forms heterotetramers with the beta I spectrin subunit (Goodman et al., 1995), which is known to bind NCAM 180 and 140 (Leshchyns'ka et al., 2003). I therefore wished to analyze whether alpha II spectrin and 14-3-3 β also associate with NCAM. The 1 β 1 NCAM polyclonal antibody preparation was used to precipitate NCAM from membrane fractions isolated from 3 week-old wild-type mouse brains. Western blot analysis of the NCAM immunoprecipitates with an anti-14-3-3 β isoform-specific antibody and an anti-alpha II spectrin monoclonal antibody revealed the presence of 14-3-3 β and alpha II spectrin in these immunoprecipitates (Fig. 8; left, upper panel; right panel), indicating that these two proteins are indeed associated with NCAM in mouse brain.



Figure 8: Immunoprecipitation reveals NCAM – spectrin - 14-3-3 complexes in mouse brain. *Left, upper panel:* Immunoprecipitation (IP) of NCAM from crude brain membrane fractions (MF) was performed with an antibody to NCAM. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with an anti-14-3-3 β antibody. *Left, lower panel:* Western blot analysis of the co-precipitates was also performed with an anti-NCAM antibody in order to show that NCAM was successfully precipitated from membrane fractions. *Right panel:* IP of NCAM from brain membrane fractions (MF) was performed with an antibody to NCAM. Western blot was performed with an anti-alpha II spectrin antibody. Precipitation with rabbit non-immune IgGs (IP: Ig) served as a negative control.

3.1.5 S1302A mutation in alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 disrupts 14-3-3β binding

It is generally believed that 14-3-3 proteins function through their ability to bind specific phosphoserine sites (Muslin et al., 1996; Yaffe et al., 1997). Two main consensus 14-3-3-binding motifs have been identified: RSXpSXP and RXXXpSXP (pS represents the phosphorylated Ser residue) (Yaffe et al., 1997). A 14-3-3-binding motif (RLIQS¹³⁰²HP)

RESULTS

within the alpha II spectrin repetitive unit 12 corresponds to the consensus 14-3-3-binding motif RXXXpSXP and is the only consensus 14-3-3-binding motif found in the alpha II spectrin molecule, as predicted by the PATTINPROT algorithm of the Network Protein Sequence Analysis (Combet et al., 2000). To determine whether alpha II spectrin requires phosphorylated Ser¹³⁰² to interact with 14-3-3 (Fig. 9), binding assays were performed with GST-14-3-3 β .



Figure 9: Scheme representing the recombinant fusion protein alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14. The calpain cleavage site (Cal) and the calmodulin-binding domain (CaM) are sequences inserted into the spectrin repeat 11. The novel 14-3-3-binding site (RLIQS¹³⁰²HP) is located within the spectrin repeat 12. Ser¹³⁰² (highlighted in red) is the phosphorylation target within a consensus phosphorylation site for casein kinase II. The alpha II spectrin 10-14 construct was overexpressed as 6xmyc-tagged protein in HEK 293 cells and used in pull-down experiments.

Recombinant alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 and alpha II spectrin 10-14 with a Ser¹³⁰²->Ala substitution were compared as 14-3-3-interaction partners. The alpha II spectrin constructs were expressed as myc-tagged proteins in HEK 293 cells, precipitated with anti-c-myc-agarose conjugate from HEK 293 cell lysates, and incubated with equal amounts of recombinant GST-14-3-3 β protein. Western blot analysis revealed that the Ser¹³⁰² to Ala mutation resulted in substantially reduced alpha II spectrin – 14-3-3 β -interaction (Fig. 10; upper panel), indicating that Ser¹³⁰² of alpha II spectrin is important for the interaction with 14-3-3 β .



Figure 10: Ser¹³⁰² -> Ala substitution in alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 disrupts binding to 14-3-3β. Wild-type and mutant alpha II spectrin constructs were transfected into HEK293 cells. Myc-tagged proteins from cell lysates were precipitated with anti-mycconjugated agarose beads and subjected to in vitro binding assays. Binding of GST-14-3-3B to precipitated myc-tagged wild-type and mutated alpha II spectrin 10-14 was analyzed by Western blotting. Upper panel: GST-14-3-3β protein bound to myc-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 was detected by using an anti-GST antibody. Lower panel: Western blot analysis of the precipitated myc-tagged wild-type and mutated alpha II spectrin 10-14 was performed with an anti-c-myc antibody (*precipitated myc-alpha II spectrin 10-14 and Ser¹³⁰²Ala mutant; hc Ig, Immunoglobulin heavy chain).

3.1.6. *In vitro* casein kinase II phosphorylation of alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 stimulates 14-3-3 binding

The Ser¹³⁰² residue in alpha II spectrin domain 12, which was shown above to be important for the interaction with 14-3-3, is part of a consensus phosphorylation site for casein kinase II (CK II). To determine whether phosphorylation is required for the interaction of alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 and 14-3-3, recombinant GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 bound to GSH agarose beads was preincubated with or without CK II in the presence of 200 μ M ATP, followed by an incubation with crude brain membrane fractions isolated from 3 week-old wild-type mice. Immunoblot analysis (Fig. 11; left panel) revealed that preincubation of GSTalpha II spectrin 10-14 with CK II was indeed necessary for 14-3-3 binding.

A dot blot analysis performed with an anti-pSer antibody confirmed that GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 was phosphorylated after CK II treatment (Fig. 11; right panel).



Figure 11: *In vitro* **CK II phosphorylation of alpha II spectrin 10-14 stimulates 14-3-3 binding.** *Left panel:* Alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 were expressed as a GST fusion protein in bacteria and immobilized on glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The beads were incubated in the presence or absence of CK II and then washed. Murine membrane fractions were incubated with the beads. Western blot analysis of the eluates from the beads with the antibody H8 recognizing 14-3-3 showed that 14-3-3 was pulled down with CK II-treated GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 but not with either GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 preincubated in the absence of CK II or GST alone. *Right panel:* Dot blot analysis of GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 after incubation with or without CK II was performed with an anti-pSer antibody. Phosphorylation of GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 was evident after CK II treatment.

3.1.7. Calmodulin enhances 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14

Having investigated the phosphorylation-dependent interaction of alpha II spectrin 10-14 with 14-3-3 β above, I wished to investigate whether other proteins might influence the interaction of 14-3-3 β with alpha II spectrin 10-14. Calmodulin is known to bind at the end of the non-homologous sequence inserted in the 11th repeat unit of the vertebrate alpha II spectrin subunit (Harris et al., 1988; Simonovic et al., 2006). Calmodulin binding to alpha II spectrin induces conformational changes in the molecule (Simonovic et al., 2006) and may influence binding of interaction partners to alpha II spectrin. To investigate whether calmodulin influences 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14, a binding assay was performed. Recombinant GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 (Fig. 12) bound to GSH agarose beads was preincubated with CK II and then washed. Afterwards, beads were incubated with lysates from HEK293 cells transiently expressing 6xmyc-14-3-3 β in the presence of increasing concentrations of histidine-tagged calmodulin. As shown by Western blot analysis (Fig. 13; left, upper panel;

RESULTS

right panel), myc-14-3-3 β -binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14 was enhanced in the presence of calmodulin.



Figure 12: Scheme representing the recombinant fusion protein alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14. The calpain cleavage site (Cal) and the calmodulin-binding domain (CaM) are sequences inserted into the spectrin repeat 11. The novel 14-3-3-binding site (RLIQS¹³⁰²HP) is located within the spectrin repeat 12. Ser¹³⁰² (highlighted in red) is the phosphorylation target within a consensus phosphorylation site for casein kinase II. The alpha II spectrin 10-14 construct was recombinantly expressed as a GST-tagged protein, purified from bacterial lysates and used in pull-down experiments.



Figure 13: Influence of calmodulin on 14-3-3 β -binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14. *Left, upper panel:* Recombinant GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 encompassing the calmodulin-binding domain and the 14-3-3-binding site was preincubated with CK II followed by incubation with 6xmyc-14-3-3 β from HEK 293 cell lysates and increasing concentrations of recombinant calmodulin (CaM). Western blot analysis was performed with an anti-c-myc antibody to detect bound 14-3-3 β . *Left, lower panel:* GST and GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 (GST-aIIsp10-14) were detected by Western blot (WB) with an anti-GST antibody. *Right panel:* Quantification of pulled 6xmyc-14-3-3 β , with the value for pulled 6xmyc-14-3-3 β in the absence of CaM normalized to 1. Error bars denote standard deviation from 4 independent experiments.

RESULTS

In order to confirm that the enhancement of 14-3-3 β -binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14 by calmodulin was a specific effect, the binding assay was performed in the presence of EDTA to inhibit calmodulin activity. Western blot analysis of bound 14-3-3 β revealed that calmodulin only slightly stimulated the interaction between 14-3-3 β and alpha II spectrin 10-14 if EDTA was present (Fig. 14; left, upper panel; right panel). These results indicate that only active calmodulin enhances 14-3-3 β – alpha II spectrin 10-14 binding.



Figure 14: Effect of Calmodulin on 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14 is slightly reduced in the presence of EDTA. *Left, upper panel:* Recombinant GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 encompassing the calmodulin-binding domain and 14-3-3-binding site was preincubated with CK II followed by incubation with 6xmyc-14-3-3 β from HEK 293 cell lysates and increasing concentrations of recombinant calmodulin in the presence of 2 mM EDTA. Western blot analysis was performed with an anti-c-myc antibody. *Left, lower panel:* GST and GST-alpha II spectrin 10-14 were detected by Western blot (WB) with an anti-GST antibody. *Right panel:* Quantification of pulled 6xmyc-14-3-3 β , with the value for pulled 6xmyc-14-3-3 β in the absence of CaM normalized to 1. This experiment was performed only twice.

3.2. Cell adhesion molecule L1: a novel 14-3-3-binding protein

Serial analysis of gene expression (*SAGE*) in hippocampi of GFAP/L1 mice revealed an overexpression of 14-3-3 β and ζ genes. These transgenic mice, which ectopically express the cell adhesion molecule L1 in astrocytes, were generated to study the effects of L1 on nerve regeneration, synaptic plasticity and learning (Wolfer et al., 1998). The observation that 14-3-3 genes were overexpressed in transgenic animals relative to wild-type littermates suggested an involvement of 14-3-3 in signaling downstream of L1, thereby influencing L1 function. Furthermore, unpublished data from the laboratory of Melitta Schachner (T. Tilling, pers. communication) revealed a possible functional connection between L1 and 14-3-3 proteins. 14-3-3 overexpression in hippocampal neurons led to a specific reduction of L1-mediated neurite outgrowth. Therefore, in the present study, molecular and biochemical approaches were used to investigate and characterize the L1 – 14-3-3-interaction in order to understand 14-3-3's function in L1 downstream signaling.

3.2.1. 14-3-3 associates with L1

Immunoprecipitation experiments were performed to investigate whether L1 and 14-3-3 form complexes in the brain. An L1 polyclonal antibody preparation was used to precipitate L1 from membrane fractions isolated from 3 week-old wild-type mice brains. Western blot analysis of the L1 immunoprecipitates with an anti-14-3-3 monoclonal antibody revealed the presence of 14-3-3 in these immunoprecipitates (Fig. 15; upper panel), indicating that 14-3-3 is associated with L1 in mouse brain.



Figure 15: Immunoprecipitation reveals 14-3-3 – **L1 complexes in mouse brain.** *Upper panel:* Immunoprecipitation (IP) of L1 from crude brain membrane fractions (MF) was performed using an antibody to L1. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with the H8 anti-14-3-3 antibody. *Lower panel:* Successful immunoprecipitation of L1 was shown by Western blot analysis of the precipitates with an anti-L1 antibody.

3.2.2. 14-3-3 isoforms β and ζ directly interact with the intracellular domain of L1

Based on the finding that 14-3-3 co-immunoprecipitates with L1, it was hypothesized that 14-3-3 may directly bind to the intracellular domain of L1 (L1 ICD). To test this hypothesis, an ELISA-based direct binding assay was performed. Recombinantly expressed L1 ICD was immobilized on microtiter plate wells, and its ability to bind 14-3-3 ζ and β was measured in a semiquantitative manner. GST-14-3-3 ζ and GST-14-3-3 β bound in a concentration-dependent manner to L1 ICD (Fig. 16). There was no binding of GST-14-3-3 ζ and β to the intracellular domain of a non-homologous cell adhesion molecule, NCAM180 (Fig 16; left and right panel), indicating that the interaction between L1 ICD and 14-3-3 is specific. Correction for potential GST background signals was performed by subtracting absorbance values in wells incubated with GST only (not shown). Taken together, these data demonstrate that 14-3-3 ζ and β directly bind L1 ICD.



Figure 16: Direct binding of 14-3-3 isoforms β and ζ to L1 intracellular domain (L1 ICD). Recombinantly-expressed L1 ICD was immobilized on microtiter plate wells and assayed by ELISA for its ability to bind GST-14-3-3 ζ (left panel) and GST-14-3-3 β (right panel). Binding to the intracellular domain of a non-homologous cell adhesion molecule, NCAM180, served as a negative control. Specific absorbance values were calculated by subtracting total observed absorbance from absorbance in wells incubated with GST only. Error bars denote standard deviation based on 3 independent experiments.

3.2.3. Location of the 14-3-3ζ-binding region/site within the L1 intracellular domain

In the above experiments, it was observed that the 14-3-3 ζ isoform binds the L1 ICD more strongly than 14-3-3 β . Therefore, further experiments were performed with 14-3-3 ζ . The next aim was to investigate which part of L1 ICD 14-3-3 ζ binds preferentially. To this end, an ELISA was performed with peptides spanning the entire L1 intracellular domain (Fig. 17).



Figure 17: Synthetic peptides representing parts of the L1 intracellular domain. The L1 intracellular domain (L1 ICD) is shown in the single-letter amino acid code. Sequences of the L1 ICD peptides, which span the entire L1 intracellular domain, are indicated by the red dotted lines, with the respective number given at the N terminus. The synthetic peptides were used in an ELISA binding assay (Fig. 18).

The L1 peptides were immobilized, and GST-14-3-3 ζ was applied in increasing concentrations to the coated plates. GST-14-3-3 ζ bound specifically and in a concentration-dependent manner to the L1 peptides 2, 3a and 3b (Fig. 18), which comprise the central part of L1 ICD. Weak binding of GST-14-3-3 ζ was observed to L1 peptides 1 and 4, encompassing the N- and C-termini of the L1 ICD, respectively. These results suggest that GST-14-3-3 ζ preferentially binds to the central portion of the L1 ICD.



18: **Concentration-**Figure dependent binding of GST-14-3- 3ζ to the central part of the L1 ICD. Fixed amounts of peptides comprising the L1 ICD were immobilized and the ability of GST-14-3-3ζ to bind these peptides ELISA in was determined. GST-14-3-3ζ was applied increasing at concentrations to the plates.

3.2.4. 14-3-3ζ interacts with both non-phosphorylated and CK IIphosphorylated L1 ICD

In the majority of cases documented so far, 14-3-3 interacts with phosphoproteins. However, the above experiments showed that 14-3-3 ζ is able to interact with non-phosphorylated recombinant L1 ICD and synthetic peptides representing the ICD. I therefore sought to more closely investigate whether phosphorylation of L1 ICD affects its interaction with 14-3-3 ζ . To this end, L1 ICD was preincubated with CK II. This kinase was used here because the L1 ICD is specifically phosphorylated at Ser¹¹⁸¹ in vitro by CK II (Wong et al., 1996). Furthermore, ¹¹⁷⁷RSLES¹¹⁸¹D, containing the Ser¹¹⁸¹ residue, was hypothesized as a potential 14-3-3binding site in the L1 ICD. In order to monitor the specificity of CK II phosphorylation, 4,5,6,7-tetrabromobenzotriazole (TBB), a specific inhibitor of CK II (Sarno et al., 2001), was utilized. We observed that 14-3-3 ζ is indeed able to bind non-phosphorylated L1 ICD (Fig. 19; left, upper panel). However, L1 phosphorylation resulted in a stronger interaction with 14-3-3 compared to non-phosphorylated L1 (Fig. 19; left, upper panel; right panel), supporting the preferential interaction of 14-3-3 with phosphoproteins. We also observed that in the presence of TBB, CK II activity was partially inhibited because non-phosphorylated L1 ICD was present in the GST-14-3-3 ζ eluate (Fig. 19; left, upper panel, lane 3: L1 ICD, CK II and TBB).



Figure 19: 14-3-3 ζ **pulled down phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated L1 ICD.** *Left, upper panel:* Recombinant His-tagged L1 ICD was incubated in the presence or absence of CK II. To specifically inhibit CK II, 5 µM TBB was used. After treatment, a GST-14-3-3 ζ pull-down was performed to investigate direct binding of L1 ICD to 14-3-3. Pull-down eluates were analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with the 74-5H7 anti-L1 antibody. *Left, lower panel:* GST and GST-14-3-3 ζ were detected by Western blot (WB) with an anti-GST antibody. *Right panel:* L1-immunoreactive bands in lane 1 (L1 ICD only) and lane 2 (L1 ICD and CK II) were quantified and the percentage of bound L1 ICD and CK II-phospho-L1 ICD bound to GST-14-3-3 ζ were graphed. Error bars denote standard deviation based on 3 independent experiments.

3.2.5. Ser¹¹⁸¹->Ala substitution and RSLESD sequence deletion in the L1 ICD disrupt 14-3-3ζ binding

Based on the above observations, I wished to identify the 14-3-3-binding site in L1 ICD. The central part of the L1 ICD contains the amino acid sequence RSLESD. The second serine within this sequence, Ser¹¹⁸¹ (Fig. 20), can be phosphorylated by CK II (Wong et al., 1996) and RX₂₋₃pS is a potential 14-3-3-binding motif (Fu et al., 2000). To determine whether the RSLESD sequence and, in particular, Ser¹¹⁸¹, are important for 14-3-3 ζ binding to L1 ICD, pull-down assays were performed by comparing the ability of GST-tagged 14-3-3 ζ to interact with *in vitro* CK II-phosphorylated L1 ICD and mutants L1 ICD-S1181A and L1 ICD Δ RSLESD (Fig. 21). Both mutations, S1181A and Δ RSLESD, substantially reduced L1

ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ (Fig. 21; upper panel). These data suggest that 14-3-3 binding to L1 requires the amino acid sequence RSLESD, in particular the second serine, Ser¹¹⁸¹.



Figure 20: Scheme of recombinant L1 intracellular domain constructs. The full-length L1 intracellular domain construct contains the RSLESD sequence (**boldface**). L1 ICDS1181A has a single amino acid substitution (S1181A) of a serine residue in the motif. S1181 can be phosphorylated by casein kinase II. The RSLESD sequence, a potential 14-3-3 binding motif, is deleted in L1 ICDΔRSLESD. Wild-type and mutated L1 ICD constructs were recombinantly expressed as 6xHis-tagged proteins, purified from bacterial lysates and used in pull-down experiments.



Figure 21: Ser¹¹⁸¹->Ala substitution and **RSLESD deletion in L1 ICD disrupt binding to 14-3-3ζ.** *Upper panel:* 6xHis-tagged proteins, purified from bacterial lysates, were subjected to GST-14-3-3ζ pull-down assays after treatment with CK II. GST was used as a control. Pull-down eluates were analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with the 74-5H7 anti-L1 antibody. *Lower panel:* GST and GST-14-3-3ζ were detected by Western blot (WB) with an anti-GST antibody.

3.2.6. 14-3-3ζ stimulates CK II-catalyzed L1 ICD phosphorylation

CK II is known to phosphorylate Ser¹¹⁸¹ in the L1 ICD (Wong et al., 1996) and mutation of Ser¹¹⁸¹ had shown that this residue is important for L1 ICD interaction with 14-3-3 ζ (see above). To gain further insight into the function of the L1 ICD - 14-3-3 ζ -interaction, the influence of 14-3-3 ζ on CK II-catalyzed L1 ICD phosphorylation was examined. To this end, L1 ICD was preincubated overnight with GST-14-3-3 ζ (or GST only as a negative control) and then subjected to CK II phosphorylation. At various time points, the CK II-catalyzed phosphorylation reaction was stopped by adding SDS-PAGE loading buffer. The effect of GST-14-3-3 ζ on L1 ICD phosphorylation was analyzed by Western blotting using an anti-L1 monoclonal antibody. Phosphorylation of L1 ICD was evident by an upward shift in mobility in SDS-PAGE relative to non-phosphorylated L1 ICD (Fig. 22). Western blot analysis with anti-L1 revealed that the band intensities of phosphorylated L1 increased over time when L1 ICD was preincubated with GST-14-3-3 ζ (Fig. 22; upper panel).
RESULTS



Figure 22: Time-dependent phosphorylation of L1 ICD by casein kinase II in the presence of 14-3-3ζ. *Upper panel:* L1 ICD was preincubated in the presence or absence of 14-3-3ζ followed by incubation with casein kinase II. At different time points, CK II phosphorylation was stopped, and the level of L1 ICD phosphorylation was determined by comparing the intensities of the upper band, which presumably represents phosphorylated L1 ICD, and the lower band, most probably non-phosphorylated L1 ICD. *Lower panel:* Blot bands at time points 0 and 180 min were quantified and the relative intensities were graphed. Error bars denote standard deviation based on 3 independent experiments.

When L1 ICD was preincubated with GST, there was no significant change in the band intensities over time (Fig. 22; upper panel). A quantitative comparison of band intensities at time points 0 and 180 min indicated that at the latter time point, L1 ICD phosphorylation was ~15 times greater in the presence of 14-3-3 ζ than in its absence (Fig. 22; lower panel). These data indicate that 14-3-3 ζ promotes phosphorylation of L1 ICD by CK II.

To investigate whether the time-dependent CK II-catalyzed phosphorylation of L1 ICD requires Ser¹¹⁸¹, the above experiment was repeated with an L1 ICD-S1181A mutant. In contrast to wild-type L1 ICD, no band shift was observed over time with the mutants (Fig.

23), indicating that Ser^{1181} is the specific CK II phosphorylation site on L1 ICD and is stimulated by 14-3-3 ζ .



Figure 23: Time-dependent phosphorylation of L1 ICDS1181A by CK II in the presence of 14-3-3 ζ . L1 ICDS1181A mutant was preincubated in the presence or absence of 14-3-3 ζ followed by incubation with casein kinase II. At different time points the CK II phosphorylation was stopped, and a possible L1 ICDS1181A phosphorylation was investigated by checking for an additional L1-specific band at slightly higher molecular weight (compare Fig. 21).

3.2.7. The adaptor protein µ-AP2 does not affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3ζ

Having investigated the phosphorylation-dependent interaction of L1 with 14-3-3 ζ above, I next wished to investigate whether other proteins might influence the interaction of 14-3-3 ζ with L1. The adaptor protein μ -AP2 is known to bind Tyr¹¹⁷⁶, immediately preceding the <u>RSLESD</u> sequence. The underlined sequence forms a Tyr-based sorting motif that is necessary for endocytosis of L1 via the AP-2/clathrin-mediated pathway (Kamiguchi and Lemmon, 1998). To investigate whether μ -AP2 competes with 14-3-3 for the RSLESD binding site, a competition pull-down assay was performed. CK II-preincubated L1 ICD was incubated in the presence of 14-3-3 ζ and increasing concentrations of μ -AP2. There was no difference in the level of 14-3-3 ζ for L1 binding (Fig. 24; upper panel). Thus, the results revealed that μ -AP2 does not affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ .



Figure 24: μ -AP2 does not compete with 14-3-3 ζ for L1 binding. *Upper panel:* Recombinant L1 ICD encompassing the μ -AP2-binding domain and 14-3-3-binding site was preincubated with CK II followed by incubation with increasing concentrations of recombinant μ -AP2 and in the presence of GST-14-3-3 ζ . Bound L1 ICD from GST-14-3-3 ζ pull-down eluates was analyzed by Western blot with the 74-5H7 anti-L1 antibody. *Lower panel:* GST and GST-14-3-3 ζ were detected by Western blot (WB) with an anti-GST antibody.

3.2.8 14-3-3ζ is enriched in endosomal fractions

Endosomes are intracellular vesicles important for the organization of intracellular membrane dynamics (Schmidt and Haucke, 2007). Recycling of endocytosed L1 occurs via sorting and recycling endosomes (Kamiguchi and Lemmon, 2000). Previous studies by Nakata et al. demonstrated that Ser¹¹⁸¹ phosphorylation by CK II is implicated in normal endocytic trafficking of L1 (Nakata and Kamiguchi, 2007). Having shown the direct interaction of L1 with 14-3-3 ζ above, we wished to analyze the distribution of 14-3-3 ζ in endosomal fractions. To this end, crude membrane preparations from P7 wild-type mice were fractionated to obtain endosomal fractions. The 557 anti-L1 rat monoclonal antibody was used to precipitate L1 from these endosomal fractions. Western blot analysis of the L1 immunoprecipitates showed that full length L1 (~200 kDa) was succesfully precipitated and enriched in certain endosomes (Fig. 25; upper panel). Western blot analysis with an isoform-specific anti-14-3-3 ζ antibody revealed the presence of 14-3-3 ζ (~30 kDa) in L1 immunoprecipitates. These results indicated that 14-3-3 ζ is associated with L1 in certain endosomes. Interestingly, we also observed that 14-3-3 ζ was most strongly associated with L1 in the endosomal fraction 6, which contains relatively low L1 amounts (Fig. 25; upper panel), suggesting an influence of 14-3-3ζ on the distribution of L1 in endosomes during L1 endocytosis.



WB: anti-14-3-3ζ

Figure 25: Co-immunoprecipitation of 14-3-3ζ with L1 from endosomal fractions. Preparation of endosomal fractions was performed from crude membrane fractions, followed by immunoprecipitation of L1. Upper panel: Immunoprecipitation (IP) of L1 from endosomal fractions was performed using the anti-L1 monoclonal antibody 557. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting (WB) with an anti-L1 antibody (74-5H7), showing that L1 was successfully precipitated. Lower panel: Western blot analysis of the L1 immunoprecipitates was also performed with an isoformspecific anti-14-3-3 ζ antibody, revealing the presence of 14-3-3 ζ in L1 eluates of endosomal fractions. This experiment was performed with the help of Gerrit Wolters. Crude: crude endosomal preparation; supernatant: cytosolic compounds; pellet: crude membrane fraction; Ig: control IgG used for immunoprecipitation.

4. Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to investigate and specifically characterize neuronal 14-3-3-binding partners, with the long-term goal of gaining a better understanding of the cellular functions of 14-3-3 proteins in the brain. The first major finding was the identification of alpha II spectrin as a 14-3-3 β -binding partner. Alpha II spectrin was found to associate with 14-3-3 β in the mouse brain and a mode-2 14-3-3-binding motif was identified within alpha II spectrin repeat unit 12. A Ser residue at position 1302 within this binding motif was discovered as a critical mediator of alpha II spectrin interaction with 14-3-3 β . This interaction was more efficient in the presence of CK II, indicating the necessity for phosphorylation. The presence of calmodulin was found to enhance 14-3-3 β -binding to an alpha II spectrin 10-14 fragment.

The second major finding was the observation that 14-3-3 ζ associates with L1 in the mouse brain and profoundly stimulates CK II-catalyzed *in vitro* phosphorylation of the L1 ICD. 14-3-3 ζ was found to interact directly with both phosphorylated and non-phosporylated L1 ICD; a Ser residue located at position 1181 within the sequence RSLESD, a putative 14-3-3binding site, was found to mediate the L1 ICD interaction with 14-3-3 ζ . 14-3-3 ζ co-purified with L1 from endosomal fractions and was enriched in L1 immunoprecipitates when L1 amounts were reduced.

4.1. Alpha II spectrin interaction with 14-3-3

4.4.1. Phosphorylation-dependent interaction of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3β

The 14-3-3 protein family is ubiquitous and known to play an important role in many intracellular processes (Aitken et al., 2002). Given that 14-3-3 proteins exert their functions by binding other proteins, identifying target proteins that interact with 14-3-3 has proven to be useful in characterizing the molecular mechanisms of these cellular events (Darling et al., 2005). 14-3-3 proteins are highly abundant in the brain, and although only a few binding partners have been postulated so far, 14-3-3 proteins are clearly critical for brain development, memory, and learning, and have been implicated in neurological disorders as

well (Berg et al., 2003; Mackintosh, 2004). This study provides clear evidence of an interaction between alpha II spectrin and 14-3-3 β in the brain.

In an attempt to identify new 14-3-3-binding proteins, several groups have performed affinity chromatography and mass spectrometry analysis (Suginta et al., 2001; Jin et al., 2004; Meek et al., 2004; Angrand et al., 2006). In the present study, affinity chromatography also proved useful for identifying additional 14-3-3 β -binding proteins located in the brain. Using mouse brain membrane fractions, alpha II spectrin, a major constituent of the cytoskeletal network that is associated with the plasma membrane of cells in the brain (De Matteis and Morrow, 2000; Bennett and Baines, 2001), was identified as a 14-3-3 β target (Fig. 5). This result mirrors that from a previous study by Angrand et *al.*, in which alpha II spectrin was identified as a putative 14-3-3 ζ -binding partner using a tandem affinity purification (TAP)-MS method to look for 14-3-3 ζ -binding targets in the brain of transgenic mice (Angrand et al., 2006). However, the interaction between alpha II spectrin and 14-3-3 ζ was not investigated further in the Angrand et *al.* study. Here, the interaction of 14-3-3 β with alpha II spectrin was confirmed by GST-14-3-3 β pull-down experiments using adult mouse brain homogenates and co-immunoprecipitation of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3 β from mouse brain membrane fractions (Figs. 6 and 7).

14-3-3 proteins typically interact with specific phosphoserine residues on their binding partners. A putative 14-3-3-binding motif, ¹²⁹⁸RLIQSHP¹³⁰⁴, (putative phosphoserine, Ser¹³⁰², underlined) within the alpha II spectrin repetitive unit 12 corresponds to the consensus 14-3-3-binding motif RXXXpSXP (Yaffe et al., 1997). The RLIQSHP sequence is the only consensus 14-3-3-binding motif in the entire alpha II spectrin molecule, as predicted using the PATTINPROT algorithm of the Network Protein Sequence Analysis web server (http://npsa-pbil.ibcp.fr/cgi-bin/npsa_automat.pl?page=/NPSA/npsa_server.html; (Combet et al., 2000)). Loss of 14-3-3β binding upon mutating Ser¹³⁰² to Ala in alpha II spectrin repetitive units 10-14 confirmed Ser¹³⁰² as an important mediator of the 14-3-3β interaction (Fig. 10). A more detailed characterization of the interaction between alpha II spectrin and 14-3-3β was not achievable during this thesis work. For example, it might be of interest to determine the affinity of the interaction between these two proteins by performing surface plasmon resonance (SPR), as has been done in other studies (Muslin et al., 1996; Sadik et al., 2009).

Such analyses would allow determination of the specificity of the two partners, and compare the strength of this binding with other known interactions of alpha II spectrin.

4.1.2. CK II phosphorylation is required for efficient 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin

The Ser¹³⁰² residue noted above is located within a consensus site (S¹³⁰²HPE) for CK II phosphorylation. CK II, which is highly abundant in neurons, is suggested to perform essential roles during neurite outgrowth in developing neurons (Blanquet, 2000). The general determinants of a CK II substrate site are acidic residues C-terminal to the Ser/Thr residue to be phosphorylated, with a crucial acidic residue at the +3 position (Pinna, 1990). The ability of CK II to promote 14-3-3β binding to alpha II spectrin fragment 10-14 in vitro (Fig. 11) demonstrates the importance of Ser¹³⁰² phosphorylation for binding. It should be mentioned that the phosphorylation-dependent interaction was shown only for alpha II spectrin fragment 10-14, which encompasses 5 of the 21 spectrin repeats of alpha II spectrin and includes the predicted 14-3-3-binding motif. The possibility of further 14-3-3-binding motifs within the native alpha II spectrin molecule that may not be predictable by the PATTINPROT algorithm used here cannot be fully excluded. Therefore, it may be of interest for future studies to investigate the interaction of 14-3-3 β with full-length alpha II spectrin. To further define the extent to which 14-3-3 β depends on alpha II spectrin phosphorylation for binding, it might also be interesting to analyze the interaction of the two proteins in vitro after alkaline phosphatase treatment or inhibition of CK II-mediated phosphorylation in cells with the specific inhibitor TBB (Battistutta et al., 2001; Sarno et al., 2001; Pagano et al., 2004). We hypothesize that CK II could be one of several protein kinases that function through the assembly of cytoskeleton-associated multiprotein complexes together with 14-3-3 to coordinate signaling mechanisms underlying synaptic plasticity in neurons.

4.1.3. 14-3-3β as a possible target of NCAM-mediated cell dynamics

It is known that alpha II spectrin forms heterotetramers with the beta I spectrin subunit (Goodman et al., 1995), which binds to the 180 and 140 kDa isoforms of the cell adhesion molecule NCAM (Pollerberg et al., 1985; Leshchyns'ka et al., 2003; Sytnyk et al., 2006). The NCAM 180 – spectrin association may be important for the organization of membrane

proximal signaling complexes, for example in the postsynaptic density (Ditlevsen et al., 2008). The ability of 14-3-3 β and alpha II spectrin to co-precipitate with NCAM (Fig. 8) from the brain suggests that these two proteins form complexes with NCAM in neuronal cells.

One might conclude from this observation that 14-3-3 β plays a role in NCAM-mediated molecular dynamics of cell recognition via the spectrin cytoskeleton. Because it is assumed that CK II is involved in the regulation of spectrin (Clari and Moret, 1985), phosphorylated alpha II spectrin might recruit 14-3-3 β , which may help to reorganize the cytoskeleton during NCAM-mediated neurite outgrowth. From previous studies, it is known that NCAM 180 and the growth-associated protein, GAP-43, form a functional complex with spectrin that may control cytoskeleton dynamics to induce neurite outgrowth (Korshunova et al., 2007). The phosphorylated form of GAP-43 and GAP-43-like proteins are implicated in the reorganization of the cytoskeleton (Aarts et al., 1999; Frey et al., 2000; Laux et al., 2000). Therefore, I hypothesize that 14-3-3 β , like GAP-43, may play a role in the reorganization of the spectrin cytoskeleton by binding directly to CK II-phosphorylated spectrin during NCAM-mediated neurite outgrowth. More studies will be required to better comprehend the participation of 14-3-3 β in NCAM-mediated neuronal processes, e.g. neurite growth and synaptic plasticity.

4.1.4. Calmodulin activity affects 14-3-3 β - alpha II spectrin interactions

Calmodulin is known to bind to a sequence contained in the 11^{th} repeat unit of the vertebrate alpha II spectrin subunit, thereby influencing the interaction of alpha II spectrin with other binding partners (Harris et al., 1988; Simonovic et al., 2006). For example, calmodulin has been reported to stimulate the proteolytic modification of alpha II spectrin by calpain during postsynaptic density remodeling (Harris and Morrow, 1990; Dosemeci and Reese, 1995). Other studies have shown that calmodulin, together with 14-3-3, controls the subcellular distribution of the Ras-related GTPase subfamily members Kir/Gem that are involved in cytoskeletal reorganization (Beguin et al., 2005). In the present study, calmodulin's influence on the alpha II spectrin $-14-3-3\beta$ -interaction was shown by calmodulin-enhanced 14-3-3 β binding to alpha II spectrin 10-14 (Fig. 13). The enhanced binding of 14-3-3 β might be due to conformational changes in the alpha II spectrin molecule caused by the calmodulin - spectrin-interaction, resulting in a better exposure of the 14-3-3 β -binding motif on alpha II spectrin.

Addition of EDTA only led to a slight reduction of 14-3-3 β binding to the alpha II spectrin fragment 10-14 in the presence of calmodulin, suggesting that calmodulin is able to bind alpha II spectrin at low Ca²⁺ concentrations. Future studies will need to address this question more critically by mutating the calmodulin-binding site within alpha II spectrin.

4.1.5. Influence of 14-3-3 β on alpha II spectrin proteolysis by μ -calpain

The proteolysis of alpha II spectrin by μ -calpain may be physiologically relevant to synaptic remodeling, long-term potentiation, and memory formation (Dosemeci and Reese, 1995; Vanderklish et al., 1995; Faddis et al., 1997). Alpha II spectrin proteolysis by μ -calpain is regulated by phosphorylation, Ca²⁺ and calmodulin (Croall and DeMartino, 1991; Chan and Mattson, 1999; Nicolas et al., 2002; Nedrelow et al., 2003; Simonovic et al., 2006; Glantz et al., 2007). Therefore, the potential influence of 14-3-3 β on alpha II spectrin proteolysis by μ -calpain was also investigated in this work. Initial studies showed that proteolysis of GST-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 by μ -calpain can occur *in vitro* (data not shown). However, no effect of 14-3-3 β on proteolysis of alpha II spectrin 10-14 by μ -calpain was observed. A possible avenue of further experimentation to answer this question would be to express an alpha II spectrin construct with two different tags, one at the N- and one at the C-terminus. The use of tags at each end of the protein might allow better assaying of proteolytic fragments in the presence or absence of 14-3-3 β .

4.1.6. 14-3-3 – alpha II spectrin binding: implications for synapse formation

In summary, this study has shown that alpha II spectrin from mouse brain membrane fractions associates with 14-3-3 β . This work also provides evidence of residue Ser¹³⁰² in the alpha II spectrin site as the critical site for 14-3-3 β binding. Finally, a more efficient binding of 14-3-3 β to alpha II spectrin was observed in the presence of CK II, suggesting a phosphorylation-dependent interaction. In this context, it is noteworthy that alpha II spectrin is able to form heteromeric complexes with beta I spectrin, which is suggested to occur postsynaptically in hippocampal neurons (Ursitti et al., 2001).

Previous studies by Carlin *et al.* suggested that alpha II spectrin is a major constituent of the postsynaptic density (Carlin et al., 1983). Selective phosphorylation- and calmodulin-

dependent processing of alpha II spectrin in response to synaptic activity might lead to a structural rearrangement of the synapse, allowing a rapid remodeling of synapses after stimulation (Harris and Morrow, 1990; Vanderklish et al., 1995). Therefore, it would be highly interesting to investigate whether the alpha II spectrin – 14-3-3 β -interaction is involved in synapse formation. By selective binding to CKII-phosphorylated alpha II spectrin, 14-3-3 β may exert a significant influence on cytoskeletal remodeling during synaptogenesis. It is that the 14-3-3 β – spectrin-interaction functions as a molecular switch, regulating binding of other ligands to alpha II spectrin in the postsynaptic density. Thus, further investigations to elucidate the physiological interaction of alpha II spectrin with 14-3-3 β will likely contribute to the characterization of alpha II spectrin function in the brain, in particular in the synaptic context.

4.2. L1 interaction with 14-3-3

L1 is a cell adhesion molecule that plays an important role in mediating cell migration and axon outgrowth during neural development and regeneration (Hortsch, 1996; Kenwrick et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2007; Maness and Schachner, 2007). L1 is able to function as a mediator of signal transduction via its highly conserved ICD. One important aspect of the L1 ICD is the regulation of L1 recycling via endocytic pathways during axon outgrowth (Kamiguchi and Yoshihara, 2001). Prior to the work presented here, experiments performed with 14-3-3-transfected hippocampal neurons showed a specific reduction of neurite length in L1-mediated outgrowth (T. Tilling, unpublished data), suggesting the possible involvement of 14-3-3 as an intracellular mediator of L1 downstream signaling. This study provides the first evidence that 14-3-3 interacts *directly* with L1 and thereby possibly influences L1 function. The direct association between L1 and 14-3-3 was demonstrated by

- Co-precipitation of 14-3-3 and L1 from mouse brain membrane fractions (Fig. 15),
- $\circ~$ Direct binding of a GST-14-3-3 ζ fusion protein to L1 ICD (Fig. 16), and
- \circ Co-precipitation of 14-3-3 ζ protein and L1 from mouse brain endosomal fractions (Fig. 25)

Direct association of L1 and 14-3-3 ζ depends on Ser¹¹⁸¹ within the ICD of L1. Mutation of Ser¹¹⁸¹ to Ala (S1181A) resulted in greatly reduced binding to 14-3-3 ζ (Fig. 21). Furthermore,

I found that phosphorylation of L1 ICD at Ser^{1181} by CK II was profoundly stimulated by 14-3-3 ζ (Fig. 22 and 23).

4.2.1. 14-3-3 proteins interact directly with L1

14-3-3 was found to co-immunoprecipitate with L1 form mouse brain membrane fractions (Fig. 15), suggesting a physiological association between 14-3-3 and L1. ELISA binding studies with histidine-tagged L1 ICD protein and GST-tagged 14-3-3 ζ or 14-3-3 β demonstrated the direct interaction of L1 with both 14-3-3 isoforms (Fig. 16). Interestingly, the interaction between the ζ isoform of 14-3-3 and L1 ICD appeared to be stronger than the one between 14-3-3 β and L1 ICD. How might this isoform specificity be explained? 14-3-3 proteins interact with target proteins via a highly conserved binding groove (cf. Fig. 1). Although the residues that form the binding groove are conserved in all seven 14-3-3 isoforms bind tryptophan hydroxylase with the same affinity, whereas only the β and ζ isoforms bind Raf (Freed et al., 1994; Reuther and Pendergast, 1996; Aitken, 2002; Truong et al., 2002). Furthermore, ELISA experiments with L1 ICD-derived peptides and GST-14-3-3 ζ localized the 14-3-3 – L1-interaction to the central part of the ICD of L1 (Fig. 18). The ICD of L1 contains several amino acids that are negatively charged, most of them occuring in the central part of L1 ICD (Fig. 17), which may mediate the interaction with 14-3-3 ζ .

4.2.2. Enhanced binding of phosphorylated L1 ICD to 14-3-3ζ

The above-mentioned experiments showed that 14-3-3 ζ interacts with non-phosphorylated recombinant L1 ICD and synthetic peptides encompassing the ICD. Although most known 14-3-3 ligands possess phosphoserine- or phosphothreonine-based motifs, several interactions between 14-3-3 and non-phosphorylated motifs within ligand proteins have been described. Examples include the sequences VTPEER of the amyloid β -protein precursor ICD fragment (Sumioka et al., 2005), WLDLE of the synthetic peptide R18 (Petosa et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999), and LDSLDL of the exoenzyme S cytotoxin from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Masters et al., 1999; Henriksson et al., 2000). A common feature of these non-phosphorylated 14-3-3-binding motifs is that they contain negatively charged residues that mediate the interaction

with positively charged residues in the 14-3-3 amphipathic groove. Thus, the observed interaction of 14-3-3 with non-phosphorylated L1 was not entirely surprising. However, by performing pull-down experiments with L1 ICD and *in vitro* CK II phosphorylated L1 ICD, I could demonstrate that the L1 phosphorylation resulted in a stronger interaction with 14-3-3 ζ compared to non-phosphorylated L1 (Fig. 19), thus, supporting the preferential interaction of 14-3-3 with phosphoproteins.

These results are in line with a previous study by Hashiguchi *et al.* (2000), who showed that 14-3-3 ζ is able to interact with non-phosphorylated and phosphorylated forms of the Tau protein from bovine brain. However, their observations suggested that phosphorylation of Tau does not improve 14-3-3 ζ binding. Hashiguchi *et al.* (2000) proposed that 14-3-3 ζ is a Tau protein effector and may be involved in the abnormal Tau phosphorylation occuring during Alzheimer's disease. To further examine the interaction of L1 ICD with 14-3-3 ζ under phosphorylation-dependent and phosphorylation-independent conditions, it might be fruitful to determine the equilibrium dissociation constants (K_d) for these interactions by performing SPR.

The central part of the L1 ICD contains the amino acid sequence RSLESD. The second serine within this sequence, Ser¹¹⁸¹ (Fig. 20), can be phosphorylated by CK II (Wong et al., 1996) and RX₂₋₃pS is a potential 14-3-3-binding motif (Fu et al., 2000). This CK II-phosphorylation site is evolutionarily well-conserved among L1 orthologs and L1 family CAMs and, therefore, is likely to be required for subsequent interactions of L1 proteins in signaling cascades and to serve a significant role in L1 function. In this thesis, I have shown that Ser¹¹⁸¹ in the amino acid sequence ¹¹⁷⁷RSLESD¹¹⁸² of the L1 ICD mediates the 14-3-3ζ interaction (Fig. 21). Substitution of Ser¹¹⁸¹ with Ala and deletion of the entire RSLESD motif resulted in abolition of 14-3-3^{\zet} binding. It is worth noting that the RSLE sequence occurs only in the neuronal isoform of L1 (Miura et al., 1991), and that the CK II phosphorylation site in L1 is adjacent to this alternatively spliced, neuron-specific motif. Given that the general determinants for a CK II substrate site are acidic residues C-terminal to the Ser and a crucial acidic residue at the +3 position, it was not expected that the RSLE domain itself would have an effect on the phosphorylation of Ser¹¹⁸¹. Thus, it is arguable whether 14-3-3 ζ also interacts with the nonneural form of L1. Further studies will be needed to elucidate whether $14-3-3\zeta$ specifically interacts with L1 only in neurons.

DISCUSSION

Based on the observation that 14-3-3 ζ interacts with non-phosphorylated and phosphorylated L1 ICD, the question arose whether 14-3-3 ζ exclusively utilizes the identified binding site (RSLESD) for phosphorylation-dependent and –independent interaction with L1, or whether the L1 ICD contains more than one binding site for 14-3-3 ζ . Notably, previous studies showed that 14-3-3 ζ interacts with phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated Tau protein and that 14-3-3 ζ utilizes two distinct binding sites for these interactions (Hashiguchi et al., 2000; Sadik et al., 2009). Both studies also demonstrated that the phosphorylation of the Tau protein by PKA increased its affinity for 14-3-3 ζ . This observation is reminiscent of the influence of CK II on the 14-3-3 ζ - L1-interaction, as CK II phosphorylation enhanced binding of 14-3-3 ζ to L1 ICD. These observations might reflect a more general mechanism of regulating 14-3-3 – ligand-interactions: in a first step, 14-3-3 could bind to its non-phosphorylated ligand with low affinity. Phosphorylation of the ligand, e.g. as a consequence of a physiological stimulus, could then tighten the 14-3-3 – ligand-interaction.

Where might the putative additional 14-3-3 ζ -binding site be located within the L1 ICD? In ELISA experiments performed with L1 peptides, I observed a preferential binding of 14-3-3 ζ to the L1 peptides 2, 3a and 3b (Fig. 18), which comprise the central part of the L ICD. The Ser¹¹⁸¹ residue described in this study as important for the L1 ICD interaction with 14-3-3 ζ is located only within the L1 peptide 2 and, thus, further 14-3-3 ζ -binding sites within the L1 peptide 3a and 3b may be possible. Additional studies are warranted to further examine these binding sites within L1 ICD that may mediate the phosphorylation-independent interaction with 14-3-3 ζ .

4.2.3. 14-3-3ζ stimulates CK II-catalyzed L1 ICD phosphorylation

Previous studies by Nakata *et al.* suggested that CK II regulates endocytic L1 trafficking in the axonal growth cone via phosphorylation of the L1 ICD (Nakata and Kamiguchi, 2007). Growth cones need regulatory mechanisms to select the correct endocytic pathway for L1 molecules. One possibility is a regulated CK II phosphorylation of L1 ICD, allowing subsequent binding of molecules at this site or other residues in the vicinity. Regulation is also likely to be mediated by cytosolic molecules that bind to L1 ICD and influence endocytosis (Kamiguchi, 2003). As demonstrated above, 14-3-3 ζ binds to L1 ICD, and their

DISCUSSION

phosphorylation-dependent interaction is mediated by Ser¹¹⁸¹, which is phosphorylated by CK II. Results from a time-dependent CK II phosphorylation assay performed with L1 ICD that has been preincubated with 14-3-3 ζ demonstrated that phosphorylation of L1 ICD on Ser¹¹⁸¹ by CK II is profoundly enhanced by 14-3-3 ζ (Fig. 22 and 23). These data suggest that 14-3-3 ζ is an effector of CK II-mediated L1 ICD phosphorylation. This modulation of L1 ICD plosphorylation may play a role in controlling L1 sorting and trafficking between plasma membranes and endosomes in neuronal growth cones.

How might 14-3-3 ζ enhance phosphorylation of L1 by CK II? One explanation is that L1 phosphorylation is promoted by initial interactions between 14-3-3 ζ and (non-phosphorylated) L1 ICD, resulting in L1 ICD conformational changes and, consequently, increased susceptibility for CK II phosphorylation. From the literature it is known that 14-3-3 behaves in essence like a molecular anvil, deforming its bound ligands while undergoing only minimal structural alterations itself. For example, in the case of serotonin N-acetyl transferase, and presumably exoenzyme S, 14-3-3 binding deforms the catalytic residues so as to promote substrate binding and product formation, perhaps through inducing a conformation that stabilizes the transition state of the enzyme:substrate complex (Henriksson et al., 2000; Obsil et al., 2001). For other proteins, 14-3-3-mediated conformational changes might facilitate the interaction with their binding partners, leading for example to enhanced phosphorylation (Yaffe, 2002).

Another possible explanation for 14-3-3-enhanced phosphorylation of L1 by CK II is that 14-3-3 ζ acts as a scaffolding protein by recruiting CK II to L1 ICD. Even though there is no direct evidence at present for an association between 14-3-3 ζ and CK II, there is some evidence suggesting that 14-3-3 ζ needs to dimerize in order to act as a scaffolding protein. It is possible that GST-14-3-3 ζ forms dimers as a result of dimerization by the glutathione Stransferase (Wilce and Parker, 1994), thus, allowing 14-3-3 ζ to function as a scaffold for CK II.

Several earlier studies have suggested that the ability of 14-3-3 to bind its target proteins is independent of 14-3-3 dimerization (Ichimura et al., 1995; Luo et al., 1995; Yaffe et al., 1997; Tzivion et al., 1998; Rittinger et al., 1999). However, other studies, including more recent ones, have shown that 14-3-3 dimerization is important for the phosphorylation-dependent

binding of cellular proteins (Jones et al., 1995; Shen et al., 2003; Sumioka et al., 2005). Interestingly, Woodcock *et al.* (2003) showed that the dimeric status of 14-3-3 can be regulated *in vivo* by site-specific phosphorylation at the dimer interface, yet phosphorylation-induced monomerization does not prevent 14-3-3 binding to a phosphopeptide target. Therefore, further experiments investigating the CK II-catalyzed phosphorylation of L1 in the presence of a 14-3-3 ζ dimer and a dimerization-deficient 14-3-3 ζ may help to further elucidate how the dimeric structure of 14-3-3 ζ may influence L1 phosphorylation.

4.2.4. 14-3-3ζ is enriched in endosomal fractions

Results obtained here from studying the interaction between L1 ICD and 14-3-3 ζ have suggested that 14-3-3 ζ might play a role in controlling L1 sorting and trafficking between endosomes and plasma membranes (cf. section 4.2.3). I therefore investigated the possible interaction between L1 and 14-3-3 ζ in endosomal fractions from mouse brain. I could show that 14-3-3 ζ associates with L1 in endosomes and observed that 14-3-3 ζ was enriched in L1 immunoprecipitates from endosomal fractions with rather low amounts of L1 (Fig. 25). The association of 14-3-3 ζ and L1 in endosomal fractions further supports an involvement of 14-3-3 ζ in L1 sorting and trafficking. It would be beneficial to characterize the endosomal fractions to determine the type of endosome (i.e., early, late, or recycling endosome) in which the co-localization of 14-3-3 ζ with L1 ICD occurs more precisely. This might be done by using antibodies against marker proteins specifically expressed in distinct endosome populations.

Cell surface biotinylation was performed in an attempt to investigate whether 14-3-3 ζ overexpression in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells results in reduced L1 amounts at the cell surface due to increased L1 endocytosis. However, we were unable to analyze the amount of L1 at the cell surface in the presence of 14-3-3 ζ . Unfortunately, 14-3-3 ζ overexpression in SH-SY5Y cells could not be achieved, even after repeated attempts. Attempts to co-express 14-3-3 ζ constructs with L1 construct in HEK 293 cells also failed. It is not clear why 14-3-3 overexpression in the presence of endogenous or exogenous L1 was not possible in these cell lines.

4.2.5. The adaptor protein μ -AP-2 does not affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ

The adaptor protein μ -AP-2 is known to bind Tyr¹¹⁷⁶, immediately preceding the RSLESD sequence in L1 ICD; ¹¹⁷⁶YRSLESD¹¹⁸² forms a tyrosine-based sorting motif that is necessary for endocytosis of L1 via the AP-2/clathrin-mediated pathway (Kamiguchi and Lemmon, 1998). Given that we could show binding of 14-3-3 ζ to almost the same region of L1 ICD, suggesting an involvement in L1 trafficking control, we investigated whether μ -AP-2 competes with 14-3-3 ζ for L1 binding. We found that L1 ICD is able to bind 14-3-3 ζ also in the presence of μ -AP-2 (Fig. 24), implying that the adaptor protein does not measurably affect L1 ICD binding to 14-3-3 ζ . μ -AP-2 and 14-3-3 ζ might therefore bind independently of each other to L1 although their binding regions overlap. Alternatively, they might interact with L1 at different stages of L1 endocytosis. Further studies will need to clarify whether 14-3-3 ζ might impair the interaction between L1 and AP-2.

4.2.6. A model of L1 – 14-3-3-interaction

Endocytosis is a basic cellular process that is used by cells to internalize a variety of molecules. Because these molecules can be quite diverse, understanding the different pathways that mediate their internalization and how these pathways are regulated is important in many areas of cell and developmental biology.

The highly conserved ICD of the L1 molecule plays an important role in its endocytic trafficking (Kamiguchi et al., 1998), yet the molecular mechanisms that regulate L1 trafficking have not been fully unraveled. Previous investigations suggest that L1 internalization in neuronal growth cones may be induced by the spatially restricted activation of the clathrin endocytic machinery and its associated molecules (Kirchhausen et al., 1997; Kamiguchi et al., 1998; Hinshaw, 2000; Schmid et al., 2000). Most probably, there are several critical points at which the endocytosed L1 might follow distinct pathways after internalization from the plasma membrane and during trafficking through endosomal compartments within the growth cone. Such a critical point is located at sorting endosomes, where during axonal growth, most of the endocytosed L1 should be sorted into recycling endosomes, but not into late endosomes/lysosomes to be degraded (Kamiguchi, 2003).

14-3-3 proteins have been shown to modulate the trafficking of ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels, TASK-1 and TASK-3 channels (O'Kelly et al., 2002; Rajan et al., 2002; Yuan et al., 2003; O'Kelly and Goldstein, 2008). Furthermore, Efendiev *et al.* could show that 14-3-3 provides the signal to initiate endocytosis of the Na⁺, K⁺ -ATPase (Efendiev et al., 2005). It has been reported more recently that 14-3-3 in complex with other molecules plays a role in modulating epidermal growth factor receptor endocytosis (Tomassi et al., 2008). The examples mentioned here illustrate that it is reasonable to assume that 14-3-3 plays a role in L1 endocytic trafficking.

The results obtained in this thesis work are not sufficient to provide full detail of the mechanistic control of the L1 - 14-3-3-interaction. Nevertheless, the following model is proposed to illustrate the findings from this study in the greater context of L1 trafficking (Fig. 26).





Figure 26: Model of 14-3-3 association with the intracellular domain (ICD) of L1 in the context of L1 endocytic trafficking. L1 molecules (extracellular domain (ECD), red [knob]; ICD, black [coil]) on the cell surface are phosphorylated at Tyr¹¹⁷⁶ (P-Y¹¹⁷⁶) in the ICD. Dephosphorylation of Tyr¹¹⁷⁶ (step 1) may trigger L1 endocytosis (step 2). Dephosphorylated L1 molecules are then internalized via the AP-2/clathrindependent pathway and sorted into early endosomes (step 3). (A) Known pathways of L1 endocytic trafficking indicating potential endosomal routes for reinsertion of L1 into the plasma membrane (step 4) and L1 degradation (steps 4' and 5). The particular pathway taken by L1 is postulated to be regulated by 14-3-3. (B) Postulated pathway of L1 endocytic trafficking under conditions of low intracellular 14-3-3 concentrations. Due to low levels of 14-3-3 relatively few L1 molecules are phosphorylated by CK II at Ser¹¹⁸¹ in early endosomes. As a consequence, L1 is routed to recycling endosomes (step 4) and reinserted into the plasma membrane. (C) Postulated pathway of L1 endocytic trafficking at high levels of 14-3-3. The binding of 14-3-3 to L1 molecules in early endosomes enhances CK II phosphorylation of endocytic L1 ICD. Strong phosphorylation of the L1 ICD is postulated to result in L1 sorting into late endosomes (step 4') and then lysosomes for degradation (step 5). µ-AP-2: µ subunit of adaptor protein AP-2; CKII: casein kinase II; EE: early endosome; LE: late endosome; Lys: lysosome; RE: recycling endosome. The different coloring of the endosomes is to represent different marker proteins that are specific to each endosomal stage.

It has been shown that a post-translational modification in the L1 ICD could be responsible endocytosis of L1 ICD. for region-specific The L1 ICD is subject to phosphorylation/dephosphorylation in vivo at Tyr¹¹⁷⁶, the critical Tyr residue for AP-2 binding (Schaefer et al., 2002). Phosphorylation of Tyr¹¹⁷⁶ prevents L1 from interacting with AP-2, thus preventing clathrin-mediated endocytosis of L1. L1 endocytosis may be triggered by dephosphorylation of Tyr^{1176} (step 1) (Fig. 26). This hypothesis is supported by a study by Schaefer et al. (2002) showing that in growth cones Tyr¹¹⁷⁶-dephosphorylated L1 is found in vesicle-like structures. µ-AP-2 binding to the ¹¹⁷⁶YRSLE¹¹⁸⁰ sequence in L1 ICD then enables L1 to be endocytosed via the clathrin-dependent pathway (step 2), as demonstrated in a study by Kamiguchi et al. (1998). The endocytosed L1 molecules are sorted into early endosomes (step 3). These early endosome-sorted L1 molecules can then follow two different pathways: reinsertion into the plasma membrane via recycling endosomes (step 4) or degradation via late endosomes and lysosomes (steps 4' and 5) (Fig. 26A). In the present study, I provide evidence to suggest that 14-3-3 orchestrates the trafficking of L1 molecules after endocytosis. In vitro binding assays revealed that 14-3-3 interacts with L1 ICD, and co-immunoprecipitation experiments demonstrated that 14-3-3 associates with L1 in vivo. It was also shown that 14-3-3 associates with L1 in distinct endosomal fractions, suggesting the presence of 14-3-3 – L1complexes during trafficking/sorting through endosomal compartments such as early and late endosomes. Furthermore, I hypothesize that only L1 and AP-2 interact at the plasma membrane, with 14-3-3 interaction occurring further downstream. Support for this hypothesis is provided by results obtained in this study showing that AP-2 does not influence binding of L1 ICD to 14-3-3.

Enhanced L1 phosphorylation of L1 ICD by CK II was observed in the presence of 14-3-3. Although the physiological relevance of this finding in the context of L1 sorting is not entirely clear at present, the level of phosphorylation, presumably regulated by 14-3-3, determines whether L1 is recirculated to the plasma membrane or is degraded. Independent results show that overexpression of 14-3-3 in hippocampal neurons results in a specific reduction of L1-mediated neurite outgrowth (T. Tilling, unpublished data). I speculate that in the absence of 14-3-3, less L1 is phosphorylated by CK II and reinsertion of L1 into the plasma membrane occurs (step 4) (Fig. 26B). In contrast, enhanced phosphorylation of L1 due to the interaction with 14-3-3 leads to sorting into late endosomes, then lysosomes and degradation of L1 (steps 4' and 5) (Fig. 26C).

Taken together, these data suggest that 14-3-3 is a key molecule in regulating CK II-catalyzed phosphorylation of L1, thereby directing endocytic L1 trafficking. 14-3-3 interacts directly with L1 ICD and this interaction is required for CK II-dependent phosphorylation of L1. More studies will be required to investigate the function of 14-3-3 in L1 trafficking during neurite outgrowth in detail. Also, the identification of additional molecules that are part of critical sorting points would greatly enhance our understanding of how cells are able to regulate intracellular cell adhesion molecule trafficking.

5. List of references

- Aarts LH, Verkade P, van Dalen JJ, van Rozen AJ, Gispen WH, Schrama LH, Schotman P (1999) B-50/GAP-43 potentiates cytoskeletal reorganization in raft domains. Mol Cell Neurosci 14:85-97.
- Aitken A (1996) 14-3-3 and its possible role in co-ordinating multiple signalling pathways. Trends Cell Biol 6:341-347.
- Aitken A (2002) Functional specificity in 14-3-3 isoform interactions through dimer formation and phosphorylation. Chromosome location of mammalian isoforms and variants. Plant Mol Biol 50:993-1010.
- Aitken A (2006) 14-3-3 proteins: a historic overview. Semin Cancer Biol 16:162-172.
- Aitken A, Howell S, Jones D, Madrazo J, Martin H, Patel Y, Robinson K (1995) Posttranslationally modified 14-3-3 isoforms and inhibition of protein kinase C. Mol Cell Biochem 149-150:41-49.
- Aitken A, Baxter H, Dubois T, Clokie S, Mackie S, Mitchell K, Peden A, Zemlickova E (2002) Specificity of 14-3-3 isoform dimer interactions and phosphorylation. Biochem Soc Trans 30:351-360.
- Angrand PO, Segura I, Volkel P, Ghidelli S, Terry R, Brajenovic M, Vintersten K, Klein R, Superti-Furga G, Drewes G, Kuster B, Bouwmeester T, Acker-Palmer A (2006) Transgenic mouse proteomics identifies new 14-3-3-associated proteins involved in cytoskeletal rearrangements and cell signaling. Mol Cell Proteomics 5:2211-2227.
- Bahr BA, Kessler M, Rivera S, Vanderklish PW, Hall RA, Mutneja MS, Gall C, Hoffman KB (1995) Stable maintenance of glutamate receptors and other synaptic components in long-term hippocampal slices. Hippocampus 5:425-439.
- Baqui M, Botero D, Gereben B, Curcio C, Harney JW, Salvatore D, Sorimachi K, Larsen PR, Bianco AC (2003) Human type 3 iodothyronine selenodeiodinase is located in the plasma membrane and undergoes rapid internalization to endosomes. J Biol Chem 278:1206-1211.
- Battistutta R, De Moliner E, Sarno S, Zanotti G, Pinna LA (2001) Structural features underlying selective inhibition of protein kinase CK2 by ATP site-directed tetrabromo-2-benzotriazole. Protein Sci 10:2200-2206.
- Bednarski E, Vanderklish P, Gall C, Saido TC, Bahr BA, Lynch G (1995) Translational suppression of calpain I reduces NMDA-induced spectrin proteolysis and pathophysiology in cultured hippocampal slices. Brain Res 694:147-157.
- Beguin P, Mahalakshmi RN, Nagashima K, Cher DH, Takahashi A, Yamada Y, Seino Y, Hunziker W (2005) 14-3-3 and calmodulin control subcellular distribution of Kir/Gem and its regulation of cell shape and calcium channel activity. J Cell Sci 118:1923-1934.
- Bennett V (1992) Ankyrins. Adaptors between diverse plasma membrane proteins and the cytoplasm. J Biol Chem 267:8703-8706.
- Bennett V, Baines AJ (2001) Spectrin and ankyrin-based pathways: metazoan inventions for integrating cells into tissues. Physiol Rev 81:1353-1392.
- Bennett V, Healy J (2008) Organizing the fluid membrane bilayer: diseases linked to spectrin and ankyrin. Trends Mol Med 14:28-36.
- Berg D, Holzmann C, Riess O (2003) 14-3-3 proteins in the nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:752-762.

- Bignone PA, Baines AJ (2003) Spectrin alpha II and beta II isoforms interact with high affinity at the tetramerization site. Biochem J 374:613-624.
- Blanquet PR (2000) Casein kinase 2 as a potentially important enzyme in the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 60:211-246.
- Bloch RJ, Morrow JS (1989) An unusual beta-spectrin associated with clustered acetylcholine receptors. J Cell Biol 108:481-493.
- Bloch RJ, Bezakova G, Ursitti JA, Zhou D, Pumplin DW (1997) A membrane skeleton that clusters nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in muscle. Soc Gen Physiol Ser 52:177-195.
- Bockers TM, Mameza MG, Kreutz MR, Bockmann J, Weise C, Buck F, Richter D, Gundelfinger ED, Kreienkamp HJ (2001) Synaptic scaffolding proteins in rat brain. Ankyrin repeats of the multidomain Shank protein family interact with the cytoskeletal protein alpha-fodrin. J Biol Chem 276:40104-40112.
- Broadie K, Rushton E, Skoulakis EM, Davis RL (1997) Leonardo, a Drosophila 14-3-3 protein involved in learning, regulates presynaptic function. Neuron 19:391-402.
- Brummendorf T, Rathjen FG (1995) Cell adhesion molecules 1: immunoglobulin superfamily. Protein Profile 2:963-1108.
- Carlin RK, Bartelt DC, Siekevitz P (1983) Identification of fodrin as a major calmodulinbinding protein in postsynaptic density preparations. J Cell Biol 96:443-448.
- Chan SL, Mattson MP (1999) Caspase and calpain substrates: roles in synaptic plasticity and cell death. J Neurosci Res 58:167-190.
- Chaudhri M, Scarabel M, Aitken A (2003) Mammalian and yeast 14-3-3 isoforms form distinct patterns of dimers in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 300:679-685.
- Chen G, Wu X, Tuncdemir S (2007) Cell adhesion and synaptogenesis. Sheng Li Xue Bao 59:697-706.
- Chen HK, Fernandez-Funez P, Acevedo SF, Lam YC, Kaytor MD, Fernandez MH, Aitken A, Skoulakis EM, Orr HT, Botas J, Zoghbi HY (2003) Interaction of Akt-phosphorylated ataxin-1 with 14-3-3 mediates neurodegeneration in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Cell 113:457-468.
- Cheng L, Itoh K, Lemmon V (2005) L1-mediated branching is regulated by two ezrinradixin-moesin (ERM)-binding sites, the RSLE region and a novel juxtamembrane ERM-binding region. J Neurosci 25:395-403.
- Chishti AH, Kim AC, Marfatia SM, Lutchman M, Hanspal M, Jindal H, Liu SC, Low PS, Rouleau GA, Mohandas N, Chasis JA, Conboy JG, Gascard P, Takakuwa Y, Huang SC, Benz EJ, Jr., Bretscher A, Fehon RG, Gusella JF, Ramesh V, Solomon F, Marchesi VT, Tsukita S, Tsukita S, Hoover KB, et al. (1998) The FERM domain: a unique module involved in the linkage of cytoplasmic proteins to the membrane. Trends Biochem Sci 23:281-282.
- Clari G, Moret V (1985) Phosphorylation of membrane proteins by cytosolic casein kinases in human erythrocytes. Effect of monovalent ions, 2,3-bisphosphoglycerate and spermine. Mol Cell Biochem 68:181-187.
- Clark MB, Ma Y, Bloom ML, Barker JE, Zagon IS, Zimmer WE, Goodman SR (1994) Brain alpha erythroid spectrin: identification, compartmentalization, and beta spectrin associations. Brain Res 663:223-236.
- Coblitz B, Shikano S, Wu M, Gabelli SB, Cockrell LM, Spieker M, Hanyu Y, Fu H, Amzel LM, Li M (2005) C-terminal recognition by 14-3-3 proteins for surface expression of membrane receptors. J Biol Chem 280:36263-36272.
- Cohen P (2002) The origins of protein phosphorylation. Nat Cell Biol 4:E127-130.
- Combet C, Blanchet C, Geourjon C, Deleage G (2000) NPS@: network protein sequence analysis. Trends Biochem Sci 25:147-150.

- Croall DE, DeMartino GN (1991) Calcium-activated neutral protease (calpain) system: structure, function, and regulation. Physiol Rev 71:813-847.
- Crome L (1956) Pachygyria. J Pathol Bacteriol 71:335-352.
- Daniels MP (1990) Localization of actin, beta-spectrin, 43 x 10(3) Mr and 58 x 10(3) Mr proteins to receptor-enriched domains of newly formed acetylcholine receptor aggregates in isolated myotube membranes. J Cell Sci 97 (Pt 4):615-626.
- Darling DL, Yingling J, Wynshaw-Boris A (2005) Role of 14-3-3 proteins in eukaryotic signaling and development. Curr Top Dev Biol 68:281-315.
- Davis JQ, Bennett V (1993) Ankyrin-binding activity of nervous system cell adhesion molecules expressed in adult brain. J Cell Sci Suppl 17:109-117.
- Davis JQ, Bennett V (1994) Ankyrin binding activity shared by the neurofascin/L1/NrCAM family of nervous system cell adhesion molecules. J Biol Chem 269:27163-27166.
- Davis JQ, Lambert S, Bennett V (1996) Molecular composition of the node of Ranvier: identification of ankyrin-binding cell adhesion molecules neurofascin (mucin+/third FNIII domain-) and NrCAM at nodal axon segments. J Cell Biol 135:1355-1367.
- Davison MD, Baron MD, Critchley DR, Wootton JC (1989) Structural analysis of homologous repeated domains in alpha-actinin and spectrin. Int J Biol Macromol 11:81-90.
- De Matteis MA, Morrow JS (1998) The role of ankyrin and spectrin in membrane transport and domain formation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:542-549.
- De Matteis MA, Morrow JS (2000) Spectrin tethers and mesh in the biosynthetic pathway. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 13):2331-2343.
- Deng H, Lee JK, Goldstein LS, Branton D (1995) Drosophila development requires spectrin network formation. J Cell Biol 128:71-79.
- Dickson TC, Mintz CD, Benson DL, Salton SR (2002) Functional binding interaction identified between the axonal CAM L1 and members of the ERM family. J Cell Biol 157:1105-1112.
- Ditlevsen DK, Povlsen GK, Berezin V, Bock E (2008) NCAM-induced intracellular signaling revisited. J Neurosci Res 86:727-743.
- Dosemeci A, Reese TS (1995) Effect of calpain on the composition and structure of postsynaptic densities. Synapse 20:91-97.
- Dougherty MK, Morrison DK (2004) Unlocking the code of 14-3-3. J Cell Sci 117:1875-1884.
- Dubreuil RR, MacVicar G, Dissanayake S, Liu C, Homer D, Hortsch M (1996) Neuroglianmediated cell adhesion induces assembly of the membrane skeleton at cell contact sites. J Cell Biol 133:647-655.
- Efendiev R, Chen Z, Krmar RT, Uhles S, Katz AI, Pedemonte CH, Bertorello AM (2005) The 14-3-3 protein translates the NA+,K+-ATPase {alpha}1-subunit phosphorylation signal into binding and activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase during endocytosis. J Biol Chem 280:16272-16277.
- Faddis BT, Hasbani MJ, Goldberg MP (1997) Calpain activation contributes to dendritic remodeling after brief excitotoxic injury in vitro. J Neurosci 17:951-959.
- Freed E, Symons M, Macdonald SG, McCormick F, Ruggieri R (1994) Binding of 14-3-3 proteins to the protein kinase Raf and effects on its activation. Science 265:1713-1716.
- Frey D, Laux T, Xu L, Schneider C, Caroni P (2000) Shared and unique roles of CAP23 and GAP43 in actin regulation, neurite outgrowth, and anatomical plasticity. J Cell Biol 149:1443-1454.
- Fu H, Subramanian RR, Masters SC (2000) 14-3-3 proteins: structure, function, and regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:617-647.

- Gascard P, Mohandas N (2000) New insights into functions of erythroid proteins in nonerythroid cells. Curr Opin Hematol 7:123-129.
- Giorgi M, Cianci CD, Gallagher PG, Morrow JS (2001) Spectrin oligomerization is cooperatively coupled to membrane assembly: a linkage targeted by many hereditary hemolytic anemias? Exp Mol Pathol 70:215-230.
- Glantz SB, Cianci CD, Iyer R, Pradhan D, Wang KK, Morrow JS (2007) Sequential degradation of alphaII and betaII spectrin by calpain in glutamate or maitotoxin-stimulated cells. Biochemistry 46:502-513.
- Goedert M (1993) Tau protein and the neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 16:460-465.
- Goodman SR, Zagon IS, Riederer BM (1987) Spectrin isoforms in mammalian brain. Brain Res Bull 18:787-792.
- Goodman SR, Krebs KE, Whitfield CF, Riederer BM, Zagon IS (1988) Spectrin and related molecules. CRC Crit Rev Biochem 23:171-234.
- Goodman SR, Zimmer WE, Clark MB, Zagon IS, Barker JE, Bloom ML (1995) Brain spectrin: of mice and men. Brain Res Bull 36:593-606.
- Grumet M (1991) Cell adhesion molecules and their subgroups in the nervous system. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1:370-376.
- Harris AS, Morrow JS (1990) Calmodulin and calcium-dependent protease I coordinately regulate the interaction of fodrin with actin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:3009-3013.
- Harris AS, Croall DE, Morrow JS (1988) The calmodulin-binding site in alpha-fodrin is near the calcium-dependent protease-I cleavage site. J Biol Chem 263:15754-15761.
- Hashiguchi M, Sobue K, Paudel HK (2000) 14-3-3zeta is an effector of tau protein phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 275:25247-25254.
- Henriksson ML, Troller U, Hallberg B (2000) 14-3-3 proteins are required for the inhibition of Ras by exoenzyme S. Biochem J 349 Pt 3:697-701.
- Hinshaw JE (2000) Dynamin and its role in membrane fission. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16:483-519.
- Hirai H, Matsuda S (1999) Interaction of the C-terminal domain of delta glutamate receptor with spectrin in the dendritic spines of cultured Purkinje cells. Neurosci Res 34:281-287.
- Hortsch M (1996) The L1 family of neural cell adhesion molecules: old proteins performing new tricks. Neuron 17:587-593.
- Ichimura T, Isobe T, Okuyama T, Yamauchi T, Fujisawa H (1987) Brain 14-3-3 protein is an activator protein that activates tryptophan 5-monooxygenase and tyrosine 3-monooxygenase in the presence of Ca2+,calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. FEBS Lett 219:79-82.
- Ichimura T, Isobe T, Okuyama T, Takahashi N, Araki K, Kuwano R, Takahashi Y (1988) Molecular cloning of cDNA coding for brain-specific 14-3-3 protein, a protein kinasedependent activator of tyrosine and tryptophan hydroxylases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:7084-7088.
- Ichimura T, Uchiyama J, Kunihiro O, Ito M, Horigome T, Omata S, Shinkai F, Kaji H, Isobe T (1995) Identification of the site of interaction of the 14-3-3 protein with phosphorylated tryptophan hydroxylase. J Biol Chem 270:28515-28518.
- Jin J, Smith FD, Stark C, Wells CD, Fawcett JP, Kulkarni S, Metalnikov P, O'Donnell P, Taylor P, Taylor L, Zougman A, Woodgett JR, Langeberg LK, Scott JD, Pawson T (2004) Proteomic, functional, and domain-based analysis of in vivo 14-3-3 binding proteins involved in cytoskeletal regulation and cellular organization. Curr Biol 14:1436-1450.

- Johnson JP (1991) Cell adhesion molecules of the immunoglobulin supergene family and their role in malignant transformation and progression to metastatic disease. Cancer Metastasis Rev 10:11-22.
- Jones DH, Ley S, Aitken A (1995) Isoforms of 14-3-3 protein can form homo- and heterodimers in vivo and in vitro: implications for function as adapter proteins. FEBS Lett 368:55-58.
- Kadmon G, Altevogt P (1997) The cell adhesion molecule L1: species- and cell-typedependent multiple binding mechanisms. Differentiation 61:143-150.
- Kalomiris EL, Bourguignon LY (1988) Mouse T lymphoma cells contain a transmembrane glycoprotein (GP85) that binds ankyrin. J Cell Biol 106:319-327.
- Kamal A, Ying Y, Anderson RG (1998) Annexin VI-mediated loss of spectrin during coated pit budding is coupled to delivery of LDL to lysosomes. J Cell Biol 142:937-947.
- Kamiguchi H (2003) The mechanism of axon growth: what we have learned from the cell adhesion molecule L1. Mol Neurobiol 28:219-228.
- Kamiguchi H, Lemmon V (1998) A neuronal form of the cell adhesion molecule L1 contains a tyrosine-based signal required for sorting to the axonal growth cone. J Neurosci 18:3749-3756.
- Kamiguchi H, Lemmon V (2000) Recycling of the cell adhesion molecule L1 in axonal growth cones. J Neurosci 20:3676-3686.
- Kamiguchi H, Yoshihara F (2001) The role of endocytic 11 trafficking in polarized adhesion and migration of nerve growth cones. J Neurosci 21:9194-9203.
- Kamiguchi H, Hlavin ML, Yamasaki M, Lemmon V (1998) Adhesion molecules and inherited diseases of the human nervous system. Annu Rev Neurosci 21:97-125.
- Kamiguchi H, Long KE, Pendergast M, Schaefer AW, Rapoport I, Kirchhausen T, Lemmon V (1998) The neural cell adhesion molecule L1 interacts with the AP-2 adaptor and is endocytosed via the clathrin-mediated pathway. J Neurosci 18:5311-5321.
- Kato M, Dobyns WB (2003) Lissencephaly and the molecular basis of neuronal migration. Hum Mol Genet 12 Spec No 1:R89-96.
- Kenwrick S, Watkins A, De Angelis E (2000) Neural cell recognition molecule L1: relating biological complexity to human disease mutations. Hum Mol Genet 9:879-886.
- Kirchhausen T, Bonifacino JS, Riezman H (1997) Linking cargo to vesicle formation: receptor tail interactions with coat proteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9:488-495.
- Kordeli E (2000) The spectrin-based skeleton at the postsynaptic membrane of the neuromuscular junction. Microsc Res Tech 49:101-107.
- Korshunova I, Novitskaya V, Kiryushko D, Pedersen N, Kolkova K, Kropotova E, Mosevitsky M, Rayko M, Morrow JS, Ginzburg I, Berezin V, Bock E (2007) GAP-43 regulates NCAM-180-mediated neurite outgrowth. J Neurochem 100:1599-1612.
- Laux T, Fukami K, Thelen M, Golub T, Frey D, Caroni P (2000) GAP43, MARCKS, and CAP23 modulate PI(4,5)P(2) at plasmalemmal rafts, and regulate cell cortex actin dynamics through a common mechanism. J Cell Biol 149:1455-1472.
- Leffers H, Madsen P, Rasmussen HH, Honore B, Andersen AH, Walbum E, Vandekerckhove J, Celis JE (1993) Molecular cloning and expression of the transformation sensitive epithelial marker stratifin. A member of a protein family that has been involved in the protein kinase C signalling pathway. J Mol Biol 231:982-998.
- Leshchyns'ka I, Sytnyk V, Morrow JS, Schachner M (2003) Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) association with PKCbeta2 via betaI spectrin is implicated in NCAM-mediated neurite outgrowth. J Cell Biol 161:625-639.
- Levine J, Willard M (1981) Fodrin: axonally transported polypeptides associated with the internal periphery of many cells. J Cell Biol 90:631-642.

- Lindner J, Rathjen FG, Schachner M (1983) L1 mono- and polyclonal antibodies modify cell migration in early postnatal mouse cerebellum. Nature 305:427-430.
- Luo ZJ, Zhang XF, Rapp U, Avruch J (1995) Identification of the 14.3.3 zeta domains important for self-association and Raf binding. J Biol Chem 270:23681-23687.
- Lynch G, Baudry M (1984) The biochemistry of memory: a new and specific hypothesis. Science 224:1057-1063.
- Mackintosh C (2004) Dynamic interactions between 14-3-3 proteins and phosphoproteins regulate diverse cellular processes. Biochem J 381:329-342.
- Malchiodi-Albedi F, Ceccarini M, Winkelmann JC, Morrow JS, Petrucci TC (1993) The 270 kDa splice variant of erythrocyte beta-spectrin (beta I sigma 2) segregates in vivo and in vitro to specific domains of cerebellar neurons. J Cell Sci 106 (Pt 1):67-78.
- Maness PF, Schachner M (2007) Neural recognition molecules of the immunoglobulin superfamily: signaling transducers of axon guidance and neuronal migration. Nat Neurosci 10:19-26.
- Martini R, Xin Y, Schachner M (1994) Restricted localization of L1 and N-CAM at sites of contact between Schwann cells and neurites in culture. Glia 10:70-74.
- Masters SC, Pederson KJ, Zhang L, Barbieri JT, Fu H (1999) Interaction of 14-3-3 with a nonphosphorylated protein ligand, exoenzyme S of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Biochemistry 38:5216-5221.
- McMahon LW, Walsh CE, Lambert MW (1999) Human alpha spectrin II and the Fanconi anemia proteins FANCA and FANCC interact to form a nuclear complex. J Biol Chem 274:32904-32908.
- Meek SE, Lane WS, Piwnica-Worms H (2004) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of interphase and mitotic 14-3-3-binding proteins. J Biol Chem 279:32046-32054.
- Miura M, Kobayashi M, Asou H, Uyemura K (1991) Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding the rat neural cell adhesion molecule L1. Two L1 isoforms in the cytoplasmic region are produced by differential splicing. FEBS Lett 289:91-95.
- Moore BW, Perez VJ (1967) Specific acid proteins of the nervous system. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Muslin AJ, Tanner JW, Allen PM, Shaw AS (1996) Interaction of 14-3-3 with signaling proteins is mediated by the recognition of phosphoserine. Cell 84:889-897.
- Nakata A, Kamiguchi H (2007) Serine phosphorylation by casein kinase II controls endocytic L1 trafficking and axon growth. J Neurosci Res 85:723-734.
- Nath R, Raser KJ, Stafford D, Hajimohammadreza I, Posner A, Allen H, Talanian RV, Yuen P, Gilbertsen RB, Wang KK (1996) Non-erythroid alpha-spectrin breakdown by calpain and interleukin 1 beta-converting-enzyme-like protease(s) in apoptotic cells: contributory roles of both protease families in neuronal apoptosis. Biochem J 319 (Pt 3):683-690.
- Nedrelow JH, Cianci CD, Morrow JS (2003) c-Src binds alpha II spectrin's Src homology 3 (SH3) domain and blocks calpain susceptibility by phosphorylating Tyr1176. J Biol Chem 278:7735-7741.
- Nicolas G, Fournier CM, Galand C, Malbert-Colas L, Bournier O, Kroviarski Y, Bourgeois M, Camonis JH, Dhermy D, Grandchamp B, Lecomte MC (2002) Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates alpha II spectrin cleavage by calpain. Mol Cell Biol 22:3527-3536.
- Nielsen PJ (1991) Primary structure of a human protein kinase regulator protein. Biochim Biophys Acta 1088:425-428.
- O'Kelly I, Goldstein SA (2008) Forward Transport of K2p3.1: mediation by 14-3-3 and COPI, modulation by p11. Traffic 9:72-78.

- O'Kelly I, Butler MH, Zilberberg N, Goldstein SA (2002) Forward transport. 14-3-3 binding overcomes retention in endoplasmic reticulum by dibasic signals. Cell 111:577-588.
- Obsil T, Ghirlando R, Klein DC, Ganguly S, Dyda F (2001) Crystal structure of the 14-3-3zeta:serotonin N-acetyltransferase complex. a role for scaffolding in enzyme regulation. Cell 105:257-267.
- Obsilova V, Herman P, Vecer J, Sulc M, Teisinger J, Obsil T (2004) 14-3-3zeta C-terminal stretch changes its conformation upon ligand binding and phosphorylation at Thr232. J Biol Chem 279:4531-4540.
- Pagano MA, Meggio F, Ruzzene M, Andrzejewska M, Kazimierczuk Z, Pinna LA (2004) 2-Dimethylamino-4,5,6,7-tetrabromo-1H-benzimidazole: a novel powerful and selective inhibitor of protein kinase CK2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 321:1040-1044.
- Parry DA, Dixon TW, Cohen C (1992) Analysis of the three-alpha-helix motif in the spectrin superfamily of proteins. Biophys J 61:858-867.
- Pawson R, Matutes E, Brito-Babapulle V, Maljaie H, Hedges M, Mercieca J, Dyer M, Catovsky D (1997) Sezary cell leukaemia: a distinct T cell disorder or a variant form of T prolymphocytic leukaemia? Leukemia 11:1009-1013.
- Peters LL, Birkenmeier CS, Barker JE (1992) Fetal compensation of the hemolytic anemia in mice homozygous for the normoblastosis (nb) mutation. Blood 80:2122-2127.
- Petosa C, Masters SC, Bankston LA, Pohl J, Wang B, Fu H, Liddington RC (1998) 14-3-3zeta binds a phosphorylated Raf peptide and an unphosphorylated peptide via its conserved amphipathic groove. J Biol Chem 273:16305-16310.
- Peyrl A, Weitzdoerfer R, Gulesserian T, Fountoulakis M, Lubec G (2002) Aberrant expression of signaling-related proteins 14-3-3 gamma and RACK1 in fetal Down syndrome brain (trisomy 21). Electrophoresis 23:152-157.
- Philip N, Acevedo SF, Skoulakis EM (2001) Conditional rescue of olfactory learning and memory defects in mutants of the 14-3-3zeta gene leonardo. J Neurosci 21:8417-8425.
- Pinna LA (1990) Casein kinase 2: an 'eminence grise' in cellular regulation? Biochim Biophys Acta 1054:267-284.
- Pollerberg EG, Sadoul R, Goridis C, Schachner M (1985) Selective expression of the 180-kD component of the neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM during development. J Cell Biol 101:1921-1929.
- Pollerberg GE, Schachner M, Davoust J (1986) Differentiation state-dependent surface mobilities of two forms of the neural cell adhesion molecule. Nature 324:462-465.
- Pollerberg GE, Burridge K, Krebs KE, Goodman SR, Schachner M (1987) The 180-kD component of the neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM is involved in cell-cell contacts and cytoskeleton-membrane interactions. Cell Tissue Res 250:227-236.
- Prasad GL, Valverius EM, McDuffie E, Cooper HL (1992) Complementary DNA cloning of a novel epithelial cell marker protein, HME1, that may be down-regulated in neoplastic mammary cells. Cell Growth Differ 3:507-513.
- Rajan S, Preisig-Muller R, Wischmeyer E, Nehring R, Hanley PJ, Renigunta V, Musset B, Schlichthorl G, Derst C, Karschin A, Daut J (2002) Interaction with 14-3-3 proteins promotes functional expression of the potassium channels TASK-1 and TASK-3. J Physiol 545:13-26.
- Ramser EM (2005) Untersuchung der Wechselwirkung von 14-3-3 mit neuralen Proteinen. In.
- Rathjen FG, Schachner M (1984) Immunocytological and biochemical characterization of a new neuronal cell surface component (L1 antigen) which is involved in cell adhesion. Embo J 3:1-10.
- Reuther GW, Pendergast AM (1996) The roles of 14-3-3 proteins in signal transduction. Vitam Horm 52:149-175.

- Riederer BM, Zagon IS, Goodman SR (1986) Brain spectrin(240/235) and brain spectrin(240/235E): two distinct spectrin subtypes with different locations within mammalian neural cells. J Cell Biol 102:2088-2097.
- Rittinger K, Budman J, Xu J, Volinia S, Cantley LC, Smerdon SJ, Gamblin SJ, Yaffe MB (1999) Structural analysis of 14-3-3 phosphopeptide complexes identifies a dual role for the nuclear export signal of 14-3-3 in ligand binding. Mol Cell 4:153-166.
- Rotter B, Kroviarski Y, Nicolas G, Dhermy D, Lecomte MC (2004) AlphaII-spectrin is an in vitro target for caspase-2, and its cleavage is regulated by calmodulin binding. Biochem J 378:161-168.
- Sadik G, Tanaka T, Kato K, Yamamori H, Nessa BN, Morihara T, Takeda M (2009) Phosphorylation of tau at Ser214 mediates its interaction with 14-3-3 protein: implications for the mechanism of tau aggregation. J Neurochem 108:33-43.
- Sarno S, Reddy H, Meggio F, Ruzzene M, Davies SP, Donella-Deana A, Shugar D, Pinna LA (2001) Selectivity of 4,5,6,7-tetrabromobenzotriazole, an ATP site-directed inhibitor of protein kinase CK2 ('casein kinase-2'). FEBS Lett 496:44-48.
- Schaefer AW, Kamei Y, Kamiguchi H, Wong EV, Rapoport I, Kirchhausen T, Beach CM, Landreth G, Lemmon SK, Lemmon V (2002) L1 endocytosis is controlled by a phosphorylation-dephosphorylation cycle stimulated by outside-in signaling by L1. J Cell Biol 157:1223-1232.
- Schmid RS, Pruitt WM, Maness PF (2000) A MAP kinase-signaling pathway mediates neurite outgrowth on L1 and requires Src-dependent endocytosis. J Neurosci 20:4177-4188.
- Schmidt MR, Haucke V (2007) Recycling endosomes in neuronal membrane traffic. Biol Cell 99:333-342.
- Seilheimer B, Schachner M (1988) Studies of adhesion molecules mediating interactions between cells of peripheral nervous system indicate a major role for L1 in mediating sensory neuron growth on Schwann cells in culture. J Cell Biol 107:341-351.
- Seubert P, Lee K, Lynch G (1989) Ischemia triggers NMDA receptor-linked cytoskeletal proteolysis in hippocampus. Brain Res 492:366-370.
- Shen YH, Godlewski J, Bronisz A, Zhu J, Comb MJ, Avruch J, Tzivion G (2003) Significance of 14-3-3 self-dimerization for phosphorylation-dependent target binding. Mol Biol Cell 14:4721-4733.
- Sheppard AM, Wu JE, Staubli U, Perlmutter LS (1993) Changes in calpain and brain spectrin immunoreactivity accompany sprouting in the deafferented hippocampus. Synapse 15:239-242.
- Simonovic M, Zhang Z, Cianci CD, Steitz TA, Morrow JS (2006) Structure of the calmodulin alphaII-spectrin complex provides insight into the regulation of cell plasticity. J Biol Chem 281:34333-34340.
- Simsek-Duran F, Linden DJ, Lonart G (2004) Adapter protein 14-3-3 is required for a presynaptic form of LTP in the cerebellum. Nat Neurosci 7:1296-1298.
- Skoulakis EM, Davis RL (1996) Olfactory learning deficits in mutants for leonardo, a Drosophila gene encoding a 14-3-3 protein. Neuron 17:931-944.
- Speicher DW, Marchesi VT (1984) Erythrocyte spectrin is comprised of many homologous triple helical segments. Nature 311:177-180.
- Stankewich MC, Tse WT, Peters LL, Ch'ng Y, John KM, Stabach PR, Devarajan P, Morrow JS, Lux SE (1998) A widely expressed betaIII spectrin associated with Golgi and cytoplasmic vesicles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:14158-14163.

- Suginta W, Karoulias N, Aitken A, Ashley RH (2001) Chloride intracellular channel protein CLIC4 (p64H1) binds directly to brain dynamin I in a complex containing actin, tubulin and 14-3-3 isoforms. Biochem J 359:55-64.
- Sumioka A, Nagaishi S, Yoshida T, Lin A, Miura M, Suzuki T (2005) Role of 14-3-3gamma in FE65-dependent gene transactivation mediated by the amyloid beta-protein precursor cytoplasmic fragment. J Biol Chem 280:42364-42374.
- Sytnyk V, Leshchyns'ka I, Nikonenko AG, Schachner M (2006) NCAM promotes assembly and activity-dependent remodeling of the postsynaptic signaling complex. J Cell Biol 174:1071-1085.
- Thor G, Probstmeier R, Schachner M (1987) Characterization of the cell adhesion molecules L1, N-CAM and J1 in the mouse intestine. Embo J 6:2581-2586.
- Tomassi L, Costantini A, Corallino S, Santonico E, Carducci M, Cesareni G, Castagnoli L (2008) The central proline rich region of POB1/REPS2 plays a regulatory role in epidermal growth factor receptor endocytosis by binding to 14-3-3 and SH3 domaincontaining proteins. BMC Biochem 9:21.
- Toska K, Kleppe R, Armstrong CG, Morrice NA, Cohen P, Haavik J (2002) Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase by stress-activated protein kinases. J Neurochem 83:775-783.
- Toyo-oka K, Shionoya A, Gambello MJ, Cardoso C, Leventer R, Ward HL, Ayala R, Tsai LH, Dobyns W, Ledbetter D, Hirotsune S, Wynshaw-Boris A (2003) 14-3-3epsilon is important for neuronal migration by binding to NUDEL: a molecular explanation for Miller-Dieker syndrome. Nat Genet 34:274-285.
- Toyooka K, Muratake T, Watanabe H, Hayashi S, Ichikawa T, Usui H, Washiyama K, Kumanishi T, Takahashi Y (2002) Isolation and structure of the mouse 14-3-3 eta chain gene and the distribution of 14-3-3 eta mRNA in the mouse brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 100:13-20.
- Truong AB, Masters SC, Yang H, Fu H (2002) Role of the 14-3-3 C-terminal loop in ligand interaction. Proteins 49:321-325.
- Turunen O, Wahlstrom T, Vaheri A (1994) Ezrin has a COOH-terminal actin-binding site that is conserved in the ezrin protein family. J Cell Biol 126:1445-1453.
- Tzivion G, Luo Z, Avruch J (1998) A dimeric 14-3-3 protein is an essential cofactor for Raf kinase activity. Nature 394:88-92.
- Ursitti JA, Martin L, Resneck WG, Chaney T, Zielke C, Alger BE, Bloch RJ (2001) Spectrins in developing rat hippocampal cells. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 129:81-93.
- Vanderklish P, Saido TC, Gall C, Arai A, Lynch G (1995) Proteolysis of spectrin by calpain accompanies theta-burst stimulation in cultured hippocampal slices. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 32:25-35.
- Wang B, Yang H, Liu YC, Jelinek T, Zhang L, Ruoslahti E, Fu H (1999) Isolation of highaffinity peptide antagonists of 14-3-3 proteins by phage display. Biochemistry 38:12499-12504.
- Wang KK, Posmantur R, Nath R, McGinnis K, Whitton M, Talanian RV, Glantz SB, Morrow JS (1998) Simultaneous degradation of alphaII- and betaII-spectrin by caspase 3 (CPP32) in apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem 273:22490-22497.
- Watanabe M, Isobe T, Ichimura T, Kuwano R, Takahashi Y, Kondo H (1993) Molecular cloning of rat cDNAs for beta and gamma subtypes of 14-3-3 protein and developmental changes in expression of their mRNAs in the nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 17:135-146.
- Watanabe M, Isobe T, Ichimura T, Kuwano R, Takahashi Y, Kondo H (1993) Developmental regulation of neuronal expression for the eta subtype of the 14-3-3 protein, a putative regulatory protein for protein kinase C. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 73:225-235.

- Watanabe M, Isobe T, Okuyama T, Ichimura T, Kuwano R, Takahashi Y, Kondo H (1991) Molecular cloning of cDNA to rat 14-3-3 eta chain polypeptide and the neuronal expression of the mRNA in the central nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 10:151-158.
- Watanabe M, Isobe T, Ichimura T, Kuwano R, Takahashi Y, Kondo H, Inoue Y (1994) Molecular cloning of rat cDNAs for the zeta and theta subtypes of 14-3-3 protein and differential distributions of their mRNAs in the brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 25:113-121.
- Waterman MJ, Stavridi ES, Waterman JL, Halazonetis TD (1998) ATM-dependent activation of p53 involves dephosphorylation and association with 14-3-3 proteins. Nat Genet 19:175-178.
- Wechsler A, Teichberg VI (1998) Brain spectrin binding to the NMDA receptor is regulated by phosphorylation, calcium and calmodulin. Embo J 17:3931-3939.
- Wilce MC, Parker MW (1994) Structure and function of glutathione S-transferases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1205:1-18.
- Winkelmann JC, Forget BG (1993) Erythroid and nonerythroid spectrins. Blood 81:3173-3185.
- Wolfer DP, Mohajeri HM, Lipp HP, Schachner M (1998) Increased flexibility and selectivity in spatial learning of transgenic mice ectopically expressing the neural cell adhesion molecule L1 in astrocytes. Eur J Neurosci 10:708-717.
- Wong EV, Schaefer AW, Landreth G, Lemmon V (1996) Casein kinase II phosphorylates the neural cell adhesion molecule L1. J Neurochem 66:779-786.
- Wurtele M, Jelich-Ottmann C, Wittinghofer A, Oecking C (2003) Structural view of a fungal toxin acting on a 14-3-3 regulatory complex. Embo J 22:987-994.
- Xu J, Kao SY, Lee FJ, Song W, Jin LW, Yankner BA (2002) Dopamine-dependent neurotoxicity of alpha-synuclein: a mechanism for selective neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. Nat Med 8:600-606.
- Yaffe MB (2002) How do 14-3-3 proteins work?-- Gatekeeper phosphorylation and the molecular anvil hypothesis. FEBS Lett 513:53-57.
- Yaffe MB, Elia AE (2001) Phosphoserine/threonine-binding domains. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13:131-138.
- Yaffe MB, Rittinger K, Volinia S, Caron PR, Aitken A, Leffers H, Gamblin SJ, Smerdon SJ, Cantley LC (1997) The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. Cell 91:961-971.
- Yuan H, Michelsen K, Schwappach B (2003) 14-3-3 dimers probe the assembly status of multimeric membrane proteins. Curr Biol 13:638-646.
- Yuan J, Yankner BA (2000) Apoptosis in the nervous system. Nature 407:802-809.
- Zagon IS, McLaughlin PJ, Goodman SR (1984) Localization of spectrin in mammalian brain. J Neurosci 4:3089-3100.
- Zagon IS, Higbee R, Riederer BM, Goodman SR (1986) Spectrin subtypes in mammalian brain: an immunoelectron microscopic study. J Neurosci 6:2977-2986.
- Zhou D, Lambert S, Malen PL, Carpenter S, Boland LM, Bennett V (1998) AnkyrinG is required for clustering of voltage-gated Na channels at axon initial segments and for normal action potential firing. J Cell Biol 143:1295-1304.

6. Poster presentation

Elisa M. Ramser, Thomas Tilling, Melitta Schachner. Alpha II spectrin from brain binds to the crucial signaling protein 14-3-3. 6th FENS FORUM of European Neuroscience. July 12–16, 2008. Geneva, Switzerland

7. Curriculum vitae

Persönliche Daten

Geburtsort: Geburtsdatum:	Klausenburg, Rumänien
Staatsangehörigkeit	deutsch
Familienstand:	ledig
Schulausbildung	
1982 - 1989	Grundschule und Gymnasium George Cosbuc, Klausenburg
1989 – 1996	Dietrich-Bonhoeffer Gymnasium, Wiehl
1996	Abitur
Berufliche Ausbildung	
09/1996 - 07/1999	Ausbildung zur Biologielaborantin am Forschungszentrum
07/1999	Abschluss: Biologielaborantin
Universitäre Ausbildung	
10/1999 - 07/2005	Studium der Biochemie, Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover
09/2002 - 11/2002	Praktikum an der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Institut für Neuroanatomie; Betreuung durch Frau Prof. Dr. Claudia Grothe
07/2003 - 09/2003	Praktikum am Zentrum für Molekulare Neurobiologie Hamburg Institut für Biosynthese Neuraler Strukturen; Betreuung durch Frau Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Melitta Schachner
10/2003 - 12/2003	Praktikum an der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Institut für Molekularbiologie; Betreuung durch Prof. Dr. Achim Gossler
01/2005 - 07/2005	Externe Diplomarbeit am Zentrum für Molekulare Neurobiologie Hamburg mit dem Thema: "Untersuchung der Wechselwirkung von 14-3-3 mit neuralen Proteinen"
07/2005	Diplom der Biochemie in Hannover
10/2005 - 02/2009	Doktorarbeit am Zentrum für Molekulare Neurobiologie
10,2002 02,2009	Hamburg, Institut für Biosynthese Neuraler Strukturen:
	Betreuung durch Frau Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Melitta Schachner

Berufliche Weiterbildung

2003	Fortbildung an der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover zur
	Beauftragten für Strahlenschutz und Biologische Sicherheit

Auszeichnung	
1999	Preis für ausgezeichnete Leistungen in der Abschlussprüfung zur Biologielaborantin, vergeben durch die Stiftung Forschungszentrum Borstel, Leibniz-Zentrum für Medizin und Biowissenschaften

8. Danksagung

In den drei Jahren, die ich auf diese Doktorarbeit verwendete, habe ich eine beträchtliche Dankesschuld angehäuft.

Mein erster Dank geht an Frau Prof. Melitta Schachner für die freundliche Aufnahme in ihrer Arbeitsgruppe, für die Überlassung des interessanten Themas und ihre Unterstützung während meiner Doktorarbeit. Außerdem möchte ich Frau Prof. Gerardy-Schahn für die Begutachtung meiner Doktorarbeit danken.

Meinem Betreuer Dr. Thomas Tilling bin ich dankbar dafür, dass er stets an mein Projekt geglaubt hat. Ich möchte ihm für die hilfreichen Diskussionen und Ideen sowie für die gute Betreuung dieser Arbeit ganz herzlich danken.

Ich möchte mich bedanken für die großzügige Bereitstellung von Plasmiden und Antikörpern bei: Prof. Volker Haucke (Institut für Chemie und Biochemie, Freie Universität Berlin), Dr. Paul Stabach (Yale University School of Medicine, USA) und Gerrit Wolters (Institut für Biosynthese Neuraler Strukturen, ZMNH Hamburg).

Für eine entspannte und angenehme Arbeitsatmosphäre im Labor, in den Mittagspausen und in der Freizeit danke ich ganz herzlich Doreen, Annika, Babett, Foxy, Aparna, Vasudha und Ute.

Christine, Steffi und Doreen danke ich ganz herzlich für das Beistehen in guten wie in schweren Zeiten und für die vielen Gespräche über die Kunst, Kindererziehung, Bücher und den Sinn des Lebens.

Gabi und Rainer gilt ein besonderer Dank für ihre besondere Freundschaft und für die gemeinsamen faszinierenden Erkundungen Hamburger Unter- und Oberwelten.

Danksagung

Sabine danke ich ganz herzlich für die kulinarischen Entdeckungsreisen quer durch meine Lieblingsstadt und mittlerweile Heimat Hamburg, für die unzähligen Theatererlebnisse, die mir ermöglicht haben die Laborarbeit mit einer gewissen Leichtigkeit zu ertragen.

Meiner "Schwester" Fabienne danke ich für die außergewöhnliche Freundschaft, für ihre unglaubliche Unterstützung in allen Lebenslagen und für die gemeinsam erlebten absolut genialen Konzerte (ich sage nur, "EDITORS!!!!"). Und nicht zu vergessen, DANKE für die Korrekturen Adlerauge!!

Meinem Freund Ralph, mit dem ich dieses "Abenteuer Doktorarbeit" erlebt habe, gilt ein ganz besonderer Dank. Ohne seinen Positivismus und immerwährende Unterstützung wäre es eine andere Arbeit geworden, ohne seine Liebe wären es drei andere Jahre gewesen. Der Atlantische Ozean und der Nordamerikanische Kontinent haben dem Ganzen nicht im Wege stehen können!!!

Zu guter Letzt, und doch eigentlich an erster Stelle, gilt mein herzlichster und größter Dank meinen Eltern und Brüdern, die mich nach allen Kräften unterstützt haben.

9. Appendix

A. Oligonucleotides

1. Sequencing primers	Sequence (5'-3')
1. pQ30 T7 promoter fwd	ccc gaa aag tgc cac ctg
2. pcDNA3	ctg ctt act ggc tta tcg aa
3. L1 ICD 3431 fwd	gct cta tca aag gca gca a
4. GST 615 fwd	gat gcg ttc cca aaa tta gtt tg
5. Alpha II spectrin 2605 fwd	gga cat gaa cca gcg atc aa
6. Alpha II spectrin 3236 fwd	ggc agg agc aga ttg aca at
7. Alpha II spectrin 3650 fwd	aaa ctg att cca aga cag cc
8. Alpha II spectrin 3885 fwd	gga cat gat ctc gcc agt gt
9. Alpha II spectrin 4537 fwd	gcg tag agg ctc tga tca aa
10. 14-3-3 β 413 fwd	ggg caa aga gta ccg tga
11. 14-3-3 β 834 fwd	cag ctg ctc agg gac aat ctc ca

2. Mutagenesis primers	Sequence (5'-3')
1. Alpha II spectrin S1302A fwd	aca gca gag cgc ctg acc cag gcc cat ccc gag tca gca gaa
	gac
2. Alpha II spectrin S1302A rev	gtc ttc tgc tga ctc ttt atg ggc ctg ggt cag gcg ctc tgc tgt
3. L1 ICDS1181A fwd	ggc gag tac agg tcc ctg gag gct gac aat gaa gag aag gcc ttt
4. L1 ICDS1181A rev	aaa ggc ctt ctc ttc att gtc agc ctc cag gga cct gta ctc gcc
5. L1 ICD∆RSLESD fwd	gac gag acc ttc ggc gag tac aat gaa gag aag gcc ttt ggc
6. L1 ICDARSLESD rev	gcc aaa ggc ctt ctc ttc att gta ctc gcc gaa ggt ctc gtc
3. PCR primers	Sequence (5'-3')
1. 14-3-3 β fwd	ata ctc gag cat gga taa gag tga gct ggt a
2. 14-3-3 β rev	ata tet aga tgg tte tet ece tet eca gea t
3. Alpha II spectrin 10-14 Kozak fwd	ata gaa ttc gcc acc atg ttt atg ttg ttc cgt gaa gcg aat
4. Alpha II spectrin 10-14 Kozak rev	ata etc gag gac etc att geg ecg get aga
5. Alpha II spectrin 10-14 fwd	ata gaa ttc cct tta tgt tgt tcc gtg aag cga at
B.1. Generation of pcDNA3/6xmyc-14-3-3β

pcDNA3/6xmyc-14-3-3 β was generated for expression of 6xmyc-tagged 14-3-3 β in mammalian cells. cDNA encoding the open reading frame of the 14-3-3 β isoform was amplified by PCR using pGEX-2T-14-3-3 β as a template and the above listed primers 3.1 and 3.2 (see A3). The PCR product was digested with Xba I-Xho I and then ligated into pcDNA3/6xmyc vector.

B.2. Generation of pGEX-4T-2-alpha II spectrin 10-14

For overexpression of glutathione S transferase- (GST-) tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14 in bacteria, alpha II spectrin 10-14 was amplified using pCI - alpha II spectrin (cDNA kindly obtained from Jon Morrow, Yale University) as a template and the above listed primers 3.5 and 3.6 (see A3). The PCR product, encompassing nucleotides 3376-4683 of the human alpha II spectrin sequence, was digested with EcoR I-Xho I and then ligated into the EcoR I/Xho I cloning sites of pGEX-4T-2 vector.



Figure 1: pGEX-4T-2 vector map (GE Healthcare; www.gehealthcare.com)

B.3. Generation of pcDNATM3.1/myc-his – alpha II spectrin 10-14

For mammalian expression of myc-histidine-tagged alpha II spectrin 10-14, alpha II spectrin 10-14 was amplified using pCI - alpha II spectrin (cDNA provided by Jon Morrow, Yale University) as a template and the above listed primers 3.3 and 3.4 (see A3). The PCR product, encompassing nucleotides 3376-4683 of the human alpha II spectrin sequence, was digested with EcoR I-Xho I and then ligated into the EcoR I/Xho I cloning sites of pcDNATM3.1/myc-his vector.



Figure 2: pcDNATM3.1/myc-his A vector map (Invitrogen; www.invitrogen.com)

B.4. Mutations in L1 ICD

Mutants of histidine-tagged L1 ICD were generated using a QuikChange Site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) and primers listed in A2. Mutation sites were: Ser¹¹⁸¹ to Ala and deletion of RSLESD sequence (positions 1177-1182). The specific base changes in all mutants were confirmed by DNA sequence analysis.

B.5. Mutations in alpha II spectrin 10-14

A Ser to Ala mutant (Ser1302 to Ala) of myc-histidine-tagged alpha II spectrin was generated using a QuikChange Site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) and primers listed in A2. The specific base changes were confirmed by DNA sequencing.